

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

3-27-2024

Challenges to Implementing Culturally Competent Mental Health **Practices with African Americans in Hospital Settings**

ERIC EJEM Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations



Part of the Social Work Commons

Walden University

College of Social and Behavioral Sciences

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

Eric Nnanna Ejem

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee

Dr. Live Endless, Committee Chairperson, Social Work Faculty

Dr. Paula Moore, Committee Member, Social Work Faculty

Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

Walden University 2024.

Abstract

Challenges to Implementing Culturally Competent Mental Health Practices with African

Americans in Hospital Settings

by

Eric Ejem

Project Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Social Work

Walden University

November 2023

Abstract

The African American population has been underserved in terms of culturally-competent mental health services. Although researchers have investigated this issue, there is a lack of information on how social workers have responded to the fact that African Americans have not benefited from culturally-competent services. This study involved using the Afrocentricity model to explore challenges faced by social workers in terms of providing culturally-competent mental health care to African Americans in hospitals. It included examinations of social workers and their perspectives on cultural issues they faced when providing mental health services to African Americans in hospital settings as well as perspectives of benefits and strategies of incorporating cultural competence. For this basic qualitative study, individual semi-structured interviews were conducted with 10 full-time social workers with at least two years of experience working with African Americans in hospital settings within Houston, Texas. Emergent themes were extracted from interview data via content analysis. African American denial of mental health services emerged as a significant challenge faced by this population. Attaining effective communication was perceived as a benefit of culturally-competent practice. Another key theme in this study is family engagement. This study could lead to positive social change by developing different approaches that could advance mental healthcare use among African American populations.

Challenges to Implementing Culturally Competent Mental Health Practices with African Americans in Hospital Settings

by

Eric Ejem

Project Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Social Work

Walden University

November 2023

Dedication

This project is dedicated to God Almighty, who made it possible for me to complete this study. To my loving wife, Ms. Linda Ejem and my beloved children, Eric, Samuel, and Chelsea for all their sacrifices, without which it would have been impossible to accomplish this task. I also dedicate this study to my mother Ms. Jane Ejem and sister Professor Elizabeth Orji, for laying the educational foundation, guidance, support, and discipline that guided me throughout this journey.

Acknowledgments

I would like to thank my committee chair, Dr. Live Endless, for his guidance and support during this process. I would also like to thank Dr. Paula Lazette, my committee member, for her contribution to my success.

.

Table of Contents

List of Tables	V
Section 1: Foundation of the Study and Literature Review	1
Problem Statement	2
Purpose Statement	5
Research Questions	6
Definitions of Key Terms and Concepts	6
Nature of the Doctoral Project	7
Significance of the Study	10
Theoretical and Conceptual Framework	11
Values and Ethics	12
Review of the Professional and Academic Literature	13
Role of Culture in Culturally-Competent Practice	14
African Americans and Mental Wellbeing	17
African American Mental Health and Psychosocial Challenges	20
Culturally-Competent Practice	23
Cultural Care and Racially-Harmonious Workforces	25
Social Workers in Hospitals	26
Afrocentrism	31
Application of Theoretical Framework to Promote Social Change	38
Summary	39
Section 2: Research Design and Data Collection	40

Research Design	40
Methodology	41
Participants	42
Instrumentation	44
Data Analysis	45
Ethical Procedures	46
Summary	47
Section 3: Presentation of the Findings	49
Data Analysis Techniques	50
Data Collection	50
Data Analysis	51
Codes and References	53
Categorization of Codes	55
Themes from Data Collection	57
Data Validation Procedures	58
Limitations of the Study	59
Findings	60
Characteristics of Participants	60
Theme 1: Denial of Mental Health Services	63
Theme 2: Cultural Incompetence	68
Theme 3: Cultural Diversity in Healthcare	73
Theme 4: Inadequate Hospital Programs	74

Then	ne 1: Effective Communication	76
Then	me 3: Patient Resilience	82
Then	me 4: Positive Discharge Outcome	85
Then	me 5: Patient-Focused Intervention	87
Then	ne 1: Family Engagement	89
Then	me 2: Respecting diversity	93
Then	me 3: Active Listening	96
Then	me 5: Awareness of Biases	101
Inter	rpretation of Findings	103
RQ1 1	104	
Then	me 1: Denial of Mental Health Services	104
Then	me 2: Cultural Incompetence	105
Then	me 3: Cultural Diversity in Healthcare	107
Then	ne 4: Inadequate Hospital Programs	108
RQ2 1	109	
Then	me 1: Effective Communication	109
Then	me 2: Comprehensive Assessment	111
Then	me 3: Patient Resilience	112
Then	me 4: Positive Discharge of Outcome	113
Then	me 5: Patient-Focused Intervention	114
RQ3 1	115	
Then	ne 1: Family Engagement	115

Theme 2: Respecting Diversity	116
Theme 3: Active Listening	119
Theme 4: Use of Empathy	120
Theme 5: Awareness of Biases	121
Theme 6: Recognizing Spirituality	122
Summary	123
Section 4: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Social	
Change	125
Application to Professional Ethics in Social Work Practice	126
Recommendations for Social Work Practice	127
Implications for Social Change	130
Summary	132
References	135
Appendix A: Interview Questions	153

List of Tables

Table 1. Codes and References for RQ1	. 53
Table 2. Codes and References for RQ2	. 53
Table 3. Codes and References for RQ3	. 54
Table 4. Categorization of Data for RQ1	. 55
Table 5. Categorization of Data for RQ2	. 55
Table 6. Categorization of Data for RQ3	56
Table 7. Themes From Data Collection	. 57
Table 8. Participant Positions	. 60
Table 9. Summary of Themes Report for RQ1	. 62
Table 10. Summary of Themes Report for RQ2	. 75
Table 11. Summary of Themes Report for RO3	. 88

Section 1: Foundation of the Study and Literature Review

Social workers encounter challenges in providing services to a diverse population and minority groups during hospitalization (Daphna-Tekoah, 2021). According to the National Association of Social Workers (NASW, 2021), social workers must treat every person with respect regardless of race, gender, ethnicity, sexual orientation, or other characteristics. Due to the wide range of backgrounds and identities that make up the population that the social work profession serves, social workers are required to adopt culturally competent measures during practice (Melendres, 2020). The social work profession, which is devoted to advocacy and activism, recognizes the need for cultural competence development and offering considerate and respectful services to their clients of various backgrounds and identities (Melendres, 2020). However, translating theory to practice is fundamentally difficult and the concept of cultural competency contains inherent contradictions in terms of its implementation. Despite ethical and educational requirements of the profession that social workers pursue their professional growth to increase their knowledge and abilities in terms of cultural competency, there exist challenges involving realization of this objective (Melendres, 2020). Although providing culturally proficient care is challenging for medical professionals, there is a need to conduct basic qualitative research to discover social worker challenges in terms of providing a culturally competent mental health practice for African American individuals in hospital settings.

I used a basic qualitative research design to explore challenges of social workers in terms of implementing a culturally-competent mental health practice with African

Americans during hospitalization. Individual interviews were used to explore how social workers describe their experiences deploying culturally competent mental health services to African American populations during hospitalization. Culturally-competent practice is defined in this study as a means of client engagement and way of practice that involves incorporating and recognizing cultural differences to meet presenting needs of individuals by recognizing factors that focuses on biopsychosocial-spiritual factors (McFarland & Webhe-Alamah, 2019). This study could lead to positive social change by adopting improved ideas, approaches, and actions that will improve health outcomes for African American populations.

In the following sections, the problem statement is presented involving challenges of African American populations in terms of use of mental health care in hospitals. The problem statement demonstrates why further information is required for a solution to be possible. The purpose of the study was to explore challenges of social workers in terms of using culturally-competent practices with African American populations in hospitals. This was followed by research questions. I then addressed the conceptual model Afrocentricity, followed by information about the nature of the study. Recent literature related to the study was reviewed.

Problem Statement

The rapid growth of diverse populations, including immigrants and minorities in the U.S., demands healthcare providers care for patients of varying backgrounds, ethnicities, religions, and cultural values. African Americans often receive poorer quality treatment and lack access to culturally-competent care involving mental problems (Gran-

Ruaz et al., 2022). More specifically, in 2018, nearly 70% of Black respondents failed to receive treatment for their mental illness, compared to 57% of the general population (Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration [SAMHSA], n.d.). Compared to their White counterparts at 18.3%, 8.6% of African Americans use mental health services (SAMHSA, n.d.). Additionally, African Americans who underuse mental health treatments face psychological distress and higher suicide rates (Carratala & Maxwell, 2020). They also experience increased risk of morbidity and mortality, poor health outcomes, and decreased quality of life (Kim et al., 2020). Despite development of healthcare measures to address these disparities, there are still racial and ethnic health disparities involving behavioral health in the U.S. (Maness et al., 2020).

According to McGregor et al. (2019), Black-White differences in mental health treatment increased from 8.2% to 10.8%, and Hispanic-White differences climbed from 8.4% to 10.9% in 2019. Contributing factors include reduced access to behavioral healthcare, decreased mental health help-seeking, and a lower likelihood of receiving evidence-based mental health therapies. Additionally, racial, and ethnic minorities are overrepresented in poor socioeconomic communities and encounter prejudice and bigotry, leading to cultural mistrust of the healthcare system, which adds to difficulties in terms of obtaining care and negatively impacts healthcare outcomes (McGregor et al., 2019). Black American patients frequently experience institutional oppression in the form of racial discrimination, cultural misinterpretations, and incorrect diagnoses when seeking care from White American clinicians (Stare & Fernando, 2019). These experiences cause skepticism in terms of the healthcare system (Moss & Crewe, 2020).

African American populations have a unique perception of mental health services, which influences their willingness to seek help during mental health crises (Moss & Crewe, 2020). According to Williamson et al. (2019), culturally competent healthcare results in increased patient engagement and favorable outcomes. Healthcare providers must possess cultural care knowledge to appropriately care for African American populations and provide care that is specific to the needs of diverse populations (Adib-Hajbaghery, 2019). Cultural competence is a dynamic process in which healthcare providers seek to provide practical, safe, and high-quality patient care by considering different cultural aspects (Adib-Hajbaghery, 2019). African Americans' unique perceptions of mental health services and cultural beliefs can create challenges for social workers in terms of providing adequate assistance during hospitalization.

Stressors that affect African Americans can increase mental disease and jeopardize their emotional health. These stressors include but are not limited to poverty, lower quality of life, prejudice, unhappiness, lack of potential for employment, and inferior educational success compared to other racial and ethnic groups (Harris et al., 2021). Historical and contemporary issues involving anti-Black racism have resulted in less than 30% of Black Americans with mental health conditions seeking formal mental health services (Coombs et al., 2021). African Americans experience fewer participatory visits with their doctors than other racial or ethnic groups, which leads to shorter visits, reduced patient satisfaction, and poor health outcomes (Lu et al., 2021). Although researchers have investigated this issue, there is a lack of information on how social workers have responded to the fact that African Americans have not benefited from

services and challenges they faced by when providing mental healthcare to this population in hospital settings. This may fill a knowledge gap by giving researchers and practitioners information they need to create programs and policies that could lead to better outcomes and fewer disparities.

I explored challenges social workers face in terms of implementing culturallycompetent mental health practices with African American populations in hospital
settings. Social workers collaborate with African American communities to provide
culturally-appropriate mental health services so they can receive proper mental
healthcare. Like other minority groups, barriers for African Americans across all ages
result from cultural stigma, lack of accessible services, and lack of transportation (Planey
et al., 2019). Professionals working with African American communities must be aware
of cultural variations within this group to serve this population effectively. Therefore,
social workers must be knowledgeable and skilled regarding implementing multicultural
and evidence-based interventions to overcome obstacles and advance social change
among these populations.

Purpose Statement

This basic qualitative study involved exploring challenges social workers face in terms of implementing culturally-competent mental health practice in hospitals with African American populations. By encouraging successful mental health treatments and methods when working with these populations during hospitalization, this research will help fill a practice gap, enhance environmental awareness in practice, and fill the gap in literature. Additionally, by doing this study, researchers could better understand what

additional assistance, education, and programs social workers require handling issues with African American communities. Findings could be used as a guide to create initiatives to enhance delivery of culturally competent mental health services to these communities in hospitals. Improved patient engagement and favorable outcomes have resulted from culturally-competent treatment (Williamson et al., 2019). Understanding social workers' difficulties in terms of delivering culturally-competent mental healthcare to African Americans while hospitalized will lead to enhanced practices in hospitals.

Research Questions

RQ1: How do social workers describe how cultural issues create challenges when providing mental healthcare services to African Americans in hospital settings?

RQ2: What do mental healthcare social workers perceive as benefits to providing culturally-competent treatment to African American patients in hospital settings?

RQ3: How do social workers in hospital settings incorporate cultural competence into their work when providing mental healthcare to African Americans in hospital settings?

Definitions of Key Terms and Concepts

In this section, I define key terms and concepts that were used in the study that may have multiple meanings. All definitions are supported by professional literature.

Culture: Beliefs, values, attitudes, behaviors, and practices that are characteristic of a group of people (Alghanmi et al 2022). Culture involves ethnic, racial, and socially-acquired qualities that are shared by a community or group (Foronda, 2020).

Culturally competent: Client-centered services that are respectful and responsive to the needs of a diverse group of patients.

Medical mistrust: Lack of confidence in the healthcare system, organization, or individual (Powell et al., 2019).

Healthcare disparities: Inequalities that are unfair, unjust, avoidable, or unnecessary that can be decreased through policy action (World Health Organization [WHO], 2021a) It includes differences that result from differential socioeconomic status and their impact on health as well as discrimination (Lee et al., 2021).

Nature of the Doctoral Project

The research design for this study was a basic qualitative design. This design involves focusing on investigating how people understand their experiences, how they create their worlds, and what significance they assign to those experiences (Muhammad et al., 2019). According to Karatas (2020), the basic qualitative methodology is used to examine people's attitudes, beliefs, or thoughts regarding an event in their surroundings.

Merriam and Tisdell (2016) claimed researchers often deepen their knowledge of culture by conducting basic qualitative studies through open-ended interview questions. This can enhance exploration and collection of data in environments in which participants belong. This design is appropriate for this study because my goal was to explore challenges social workers face in terms of providing culturally-competent mental health services for African Americans in hospital settings. Qualitative researchers are interested in understanding how people interpret their experiences within their environments and what meanings they apply to their experiences (Maral, 2022; Merriam & Tisdell, 2016).

Merriam and Tisdell (2016) explained that a qualitative study design is emergent and flexible and can change as the study evolves.

For this study, individual semi-structured interviews were conducted with 10 participants through Zoom meetings. Qualitative research often involves a smaller sample size, and based on the nature of the research, 10 or fewer participants were required. During semi-structured interviews, researchers plan and direct interviews which may also include specific and personalized follow-up questions within and between sessions (Ravitch & Carl, 2021). Via this method, order of inquiries and wording follows a conversational path that is jointly created with each participant. I used a purposeful sampling strategy, aiming for a sample of full-time mental health social workers with at least two years of experience working with African Americans in hospital settings within Houston, Texas. To proactively manage potential conflicts of interest, I stated in the consent form that participants might already know me as a social worker, but this study was separate from my professional role. Data were also collected and held anonymously to ensure there were no identifying values that could link information to participants.

During purposeful sampling, researchers purposefully select individuals and research locations to learn about the primary phenomenon or understand it (Creswell & Guetterman, 2019). Purposeful sampling is used to discover and explain facts and events (Deniz & Kurt, 2022). To protect participant privacy and confidentiality, interviews were performed through Zoom meetings in a private setting that was convenient for them (office, home, or public space). Ravitch and Carl (2021) explained conducting interviews

through online technologies such as Zoom, Skype, and Google Hangout allows for potential access to a more significant number of people given geographical and other access and mobility issues, as well as potentially lower costs and less inconvenience to participants given there is no travel required. Participants were given information about the study's methodology. They were also informed about how the information they provided during interviews was used for research. I used the format provided by the Institutional Review Board (IRB) Office of Research and Compliance. These include emailing invitations for participation and obtaining participants' informed consent. Participants were contacted through LinkedIn. Interested participants were provided with my contact info to reach out directly to ensure confidentiality. After connecting with participants, I sent an invitation letter through LinkedIn email and requested their consent to participate in the study. Interview questions were also emailed to selected participants. There were no rewards given to participants for taking part in the study. Selected participants were made aware of the study's purpose and how it will be used to advance practice. Each participant was informed and given a choice to decide whether they could commit to individual interviews. Participants were informed that participating in the study was entirely voluntary and they could withdraw at any time. Interviews conducted through Zoom were recorded using a Windows voice recorder.

I requested consent from the participants to audio-record interviews. I reviewed terms of confidentiality and explained the format, structure, and process of interviews before commencement. Information was transcribed using NVivo 14 data analysis and further analyzed using content analysis to find common themes. Electronic devices like

USB drives and personal computers were encrypted using a unique password to store data. The NASW code of ethics and IRB ethical standards were followed while using this data.

Significance of the Study

This study is significant because it may fill a gap in terms of understanding how social workers in hospital settings could improve their ability to integrate culture into their work with African American clients. Findings of this study could serve as a tool which will lead to social change in the social work profession by serving as a foundation for programs that seek to engage communities in terms of change and development of more sustainable societies. The study also may lead to insights regarding cultural barriers and difficulties social workers face when providing mental health services to African Americans in hospital settings, along with effective practical solutions to promote better mental healthcare outcomes for African Americans. The study could contribute to social work administration, especially concerning culturally competent mental health practice with African Americans in hospitals. Result of this study could be of value to health policy authorities in terms of creating a universal healthcare system that will reduce healthcare inequalities and lead to developing culturally-competent training for social workers as well as promote successful outcomes for patients.

The NASW (2021) stated professionals must keep learning to build new skills, become aware of social needs and gaps, undertake research, and increase their expertise in the field. According to Whaley (2019), healthcare workers must be aware of the impact of cultural competence to effectively work and address healthcare needs of African

Americans and other minority groups. Therefore, findings of this study could promote cultural competence awareness and support workers to decrease difficulties experienced by this population. Professionals and leaders will better understand how to support workers and implement effective interventions that will enhance practice by being knowledgeable of cultural needs of African American populations in order to enable them to engage in successful mental health services. This study could help hospital social work practitioners and other clinicians become knowledgeable about cultural approaches that are effective when assessing patients, their family needs, and appropriate intervention plans.

Theoretical and Conceptual Framework

The foundation of this study was created using Dr. Molefi Asante's Afrocentricity conceptual model which involves studying and comprehending African American lives to be aware of the history, culture, and experiences of individuals of African heritage (Asante, 2003; Hong et al., 2020). I selected this theory for this study because it supports culturally relevant healthcare practices based on values, worldviews, lived experiences, and histories of Black individuals of African heritage.

Afrocentricity originated from the need for social workers and other health workers serving African communities to have a practical reference guide to help them gain more understanding of the people they serve (Hong et al., 2020). Use of the Afrocentric approach during mental health practice with African American populations could disrupt systemic discrimination and inequalities and improve their mental health outcomes. Afrocentricity is a social work theory that involves Africans and African

Americans, their unique life experiences, culture, and thoughts which shape their behaviour, including when they are sick (Bent-Goodley et al., 2017; Hong et al., 2020). Bent-Goodley et al. (2017) stated Afrocentricity involves employing African philosophies, histories, and cultures as a point of departure for interpreting social and psychological phenomena in order to develop appropriate individual, family, and social development strategies. Learning about African Americans' philosophical and conceptual thoughts during social work practice would support establishing culturally-competent practices to address present difficulties these communities face.

Afrocentricity calls for the researcher to put participants at the center of the study based on their interactions with African American populations. It could be used as a method of data collection and interpretation in research that promotes culturally-sensitive approaches. Black American culture differs from White American culture regarding its collective value orientation, linguistic patterns, and worldviews (Dillard, 2000).

Black Americans have suffered because of cultural denigration due to slavery, which is evident in the social sciences (Schiele, 1996). As a result, it is crucial to develop cultural values and worldviews of Black Americans to dispel the myth that only Eurocentric values and models can adequately explain behaviors of Black Americans as a means of resolving social issues involving mental health.

Values and Ethics

I followed the NASW Code of Ethics involving ethical obligation to clients regarding cultural competency and honoring their worth and dignity. To fulfill their ethical duty to clients, social workers must be culturally-competent, showing an

awareness of how culture influences human behavior and society while appreciating positive aspects (NASW, 2021). This study may close the practice gap by enhancing social workers' knowledge that will direct practice by showcasing expertise in terms of providing culturally-competent mental healthcare to African Americans in hospital settings.

The NASW (2021) mandated social workers treat each client with compassion and respect, considering cultural and racial diversity. This value was put in place to uphold clients' intrinsic value and dignity. This study could improve clinical practice and effect change in terms of mental healthcare of African American patients. I aimed to address these disparities and find effective practical solutions to promote better mental healthcare outcomes for African Americans.

Review of the Professional and Academic Literature

It is crucial to ensure that healthcare is provided in a culturally-competent way that addresses patients' medical, psychological, and social needs as the population of the U.S. becomes more diverse (Johnson et al., 2020). Healthcare organizations use culturally-competent care to lessen inequities involving access to community healthcare and delivery (McGregor et al., 2019). Social workers and other healthcare workers must be culturally-competent to provide adequate service to individuals with diverse backgrounds. Social workers must implement culturally-driven and evidence-based interventions during practice with African Americans, especially in hospital settings. According to White et al. (2019), providing culturally-competent healthcare services improves health outcomes, increases clinical staff efficiency, and improves patient

satisfaction. The purpose of this basic qualitative research was to explore challenges among social workers involving providing culturally-competent mental health practices to African American populations during hospitalization. In this section, I address the theoretical framework that served as the foundation for this study, and conducted an indepth literature review that is framed by key ideas. I used the following databases:

PubMed, PsycArticles, Google Scholar, Thoreau, Education Source, CINAHL Plus, and SAGE Journals. I used the following key words: *culturally competent*, *African American*, *culture*, *social workers in hospitals*, and *mental health*. Searches resulted in 150 relevant articles. While reviewing articles, I prioritized those that were published between 2019 and 2023.

Role of Culture in Culturally-Competent Practice

Culture is an ethnic, racial, and socially-acquired quality shared by a community or group (Foronda, 2020). Culture is characteristics and knowledge of a particular group of people, encompassing language, religion, cuisine, social habits, music, and the arts (Bravo et al., 2020). It is difficult to agree on characteristics or factors that characterize a cultural group and apply to all people or cultures because the notion of culture is controversial (Bravo et al., 2020). When determining culture, it is crucial to put the person first: if the aim is to provide person-centered care, self-identified cultural affiliation is the necessary identifying attribute (Leininger, 2007). Incorporating culture during practice with African Americans is a critical factor in terms of improving psychosocial health outcomes and patient satisfaction (Johnson & Carter, 2020). Johnson and Carter (2020) looked at applicability of African American values and practices and

how well those factors can forecast African Americans' psychosocial health and confirmed the existence of an interdependent model of Black cultural values based on strengths. Understanding patients' views, values, and preferences regarding their healthcare should be a crucial component of patient-centered treatment (Rathoda et al., 2021; Alghanmi et al., 2022). It is more effective for clinicians to provide high-quality care when they know their patients' culture (Trinh et al., 2020). This is especially crucial because cultural beliefs influence how to define normality and pathology, how long symptoms may last, how psychiatric disorders present, and how to respond to treatment (Trinh et al., 2020). During assessments with clients relating to their mental health and healthcare, it is vital to consider their cultural values (Trinh et al., 2020). Healthcare professionals should actively establish a rapport with patients, respond to their questions, demonstrate a positive impact, and ask open-ended questions (Armstrong et al., 2022). They should also consider how each patient interprets their illness and treatment preferences according to their culture (Armstrong et al., 2022).

Culture significantly impacts many different areas of mental health, like how people perceive health problems, seek therapy, and cope (Armstrong et al., 2022). For a therapeutic relationship to be successful, patients with mental health issues must feel at ease and understood by their mental health professionals while in the hospital (Trinh et al., 2020). This involves having confidence in their mental health professionals' knowledge while discussing their identity. Patient prognoses often improve when mental health practitioners, including social workers, are aware of the significance of cultural

differences when diagnosing a disorder and take these considerations into account while providing care (Moreno & Chhatwal, 2020).

Mental healthcare for African American populations should be tailored to individuals, their identity, culture, and lived experiences (Johnson & Carter, 2020). Culture, shared community values and experiences, faith and spirituality, resiliency, key relationships, family bonds, and pride serve as sources of strength and support (Johnson & Carter, 2020). Understanding the influence of culture in terms of mental health practices with African American populations can impact how their health information is received, what type of treatment should be given, and who should provide the treatment (Moreno & Chhatwal, 2020). While it is only sometimes possible, finding the right provider with knowledge of African American culture is essential to ensure healing and recovery (Moreno & Chhatwal, 2020). Social workers in practice should recognize the importance of culture and shared values and experiences with African American populations and other minority groups in order to improve their health outcomes (Melendres, 2020).

According to Watson-Singleton et al. (2019), providing culturally-tailored resources using familiar terminology, addressing religious concerns, and including African American practitioners are means to improve healthcare disparities among African American populations. Culturally-competent practice involves establishing effective interpersonal and working relationships as well as higher-quality care and more effective communication (Rathoda et al., 2021). Healthcare workers' capacity to perceive and comprehend patients' views is a crucial component of compassion (Rathoda et al.,

2021). Rathoda et al. (2021) demonstrated patient satisfaction, adherence to treatment, and perceived outcomes of care are more significant when the healthcare provider and patient reach a shared understanding regarding issues by enhancing patient roles in decision-making, developing an understanding of diagnoses, and understanding treatment plans. Rathoda et al. suggested hospital social workers and other healthcare professionals need to be aware of their patients' preferences for being involved in healthcare decision-making. If appropriately used, culturally-competent practice decreases healthcare inequities and leads to high-quality interactions with communities (Rathoda et al., 2021). Culturally-competent practices should be offered in all clinical settings (Rathoda et al., 2021).

African Americans and Mental Wellbeing

Despite being marginalized within the U.S., African Americans represent 41 million people (U.S. Census Bureau, n.d.). 2020 life expectancy rates for Blacks are 77.0 overall, 79.8 for women, and 74.0 for men (U.S. Census Bureau, n.d.). For non-Hispanic whites, projected life expectancies are 80.6 overall, 82.7 for women, and 78.4 for men. Because of systematic racism and social determinants of health, African Americans have experienced healthcare inequalities throughout the history of the U.S. (Amuta-Jimenez et al., 2020). Discrimination experiences negatively impact African Americans' physical and psychological wellbeing (Cavalhieri & Wilcox, 2022). Various aspects or problems related to maintaining African American mental healthcare have not been addressed by the current American mental health system. Due to limited cultural awareness and practices, service delivery needs to be improved in order to be culturally-responsive

(Novacek et al., 2020). As a result of a decline in trust in mental health services and caregivers, lack of culturally-validating therapies has led to higher rates of resistance among African American populations (Novacek et al., 2020).

Black Americans exhibit high levels of resilience and culturally-accepted coping mechanisms despite substantial exposure to psychosocial stressors such as trauma and prejudice, as well as systemic hurdles that prevent them from reaching their mental health goals (Novacek et al., 2020). Novacek et al. (2020) noted interventions that are raceaware and culturally competent must take into account variables including prejudice, mistrust of medical professionals, history and racial trauma, as well as social support and culturally-accepted coping mechanisms. When properly implemented, culturally-sensitive interventions successfully improve mental health outcomes of African American populations (Novacek et al., 2020). Supporting patients through interventions, honoring their experiences and value systems, and respecting them is part of cultural competence practice in the social work profession (Margolies & Brown, 2019). Cultural competence care involves employing cross-cultural skills to work effectively with people from many backgrounds by acting as caseworkers, advocates, and brokers (Margolies & Brown, 2019).

Because of issues with trust and historical instances of medical mistreatment, African American populations are reluctant to receive medical treatment (Bogart et al., 2021; <u>SAMHSA</u>, n.d.). Improved quality of life and general health outcomes will result from providing minority populations with standardized healthcare services without prejudice (Williams & Cooper, 2019). Healthcare professionals' self-assessed

competency, awareness, attitudes, and prejudices impact quality of education and training (Hall & Jones, 2019). The concept of culturally-competent practice is vital to address discriminatory mental health care issues with African American populations and other minority groups (Osborn & Karandikar, 2022). This involves addressing racial diversity awareness and acceptance, one's prejudices, understanding cultural norms and realities, and engaging in cross-cultural practices (Nelson, 2021; Osborn & Karandikar, 2022).

African Americans who receive care suffer disadvantages involving perceived prejudice, medical mistrust, and poor communication when interacting with healthcare practitioners (CBHSQ, n.d.). Even when African Americans need mental healthcare, they are usually not keen to use such facilities (CBHSQ, n.d.). This reluctance may result from the historical reality that African Americans' mental health had been abused due to discrimination and lack of respect for their cultural values (Connell et al., 2019). Cultural competence entails taking steps to combat systemic oppression as well as privilege and internalized oppression (Lee et al., 2021). To offer equitable and high-quality patient outcomes that are beneficial to both patients and hospitals, removing cultural barriers can enhance patient-provider communications and patient care experiences (Sciaffing et al., 2020).

The diversity of African American populations creates additional obstacles involving access to healthcare. Also, historical antecedents make culturally-competent mental health practice highly imperative. Culturally-competent practice ensures effective treatment of African Americans who are mentally ill in hospitals. Result of this study could show how attempts to minimize inequalities may be impacted by understanding the

knowledge gap that social workers encounter when delivering culturally-competent mental health practices to African American populations.

Social work involves ensuring culturally-competent healthcare delivery and reducing racial and cultural inequities among people of color (Osborn & Karandikar, 2022). Better awareness of cultural traditions and expectations of African American communities will impact the creation of programs that support culturally-competent care and enhance standards of living (Hani, 2019). Few studies have investigated this topic. This study will contribute to the expanding body of knowledge.

African American Mental Health and Psychosocial Challenges

Adult Black Americans are 20% more likely to report having significant psychological distress than adult White Americans, and they are more prone to feel depressed, hopeless, and worthless (DHHS, n.d.). Furthermore, adult Black Americans living below the poverty line are three times more likely to report severe psychological distress than those living above the poverty line (DHHS, n.d.). Black teenagers are more likely than White teenagers to attempt suicide but are less likely than White teenagers to die by suicide (8.3% versus 6.2%). Although there has been progress in overcoming the impact of discrimination and socioeconomic factors on African Americans' mental healthcare utilization, despite a decline, negative attitudes and prejudices still exist, and they have significant adverse effects (Mental Health America, 2022). According to survey results of Baltimore residents aged 18 and over, 22% of African Americans sought informal mental health care from spiritual advisors, social service providers, and family members (Lee et al., 2021). The socioeconomic disadvantages Black Americans face

result today from historical hardships such as slavery, sharecropping, and the exclusion of some groups from social and economic resources such as health and education because of their race (Hall et al., 2021). Socioeconomic factors greatly influence health and social outcomes for the general population. These factors can have a more pronounced and detrimental effect on vulnerable populations, such as those that experience mental-health concerns (Hall et al., 2021). According to several studies, having a better socioeconomic standing, including improved income level, employment, and a healthy lifestyle, can improve mental health (Nagasu & Yamamoto, 2020). There is indisputable proof that socioeconomic circumstances significantly impact how people behave in terms of their health and social consequences within a group (Nagasu & Yamamoto, 2020). Health and social outcomes are mainly influenced by income, poverty, and education (Nagasu & Yamamoto, 2020). Risk factors such as poverty, inadequate schooling, behavioral and learning issues, criminal activity, and gang membership have been linked to the incidence of mental health distress and psychiatric diseases. The literature review also found that issues with mental illness and addiction have grown to be so common in those who are poor and isolated from society that society is virtually starting to see mental illness and misery as a sign of socioeconomic disadvantage (Nagasu & Yamamoto, 2020). The information in this paragraph is helpful in this study because it has expanded knowledge of existing literature on factors that hinder the African American population from utilizing mental health care. A critical knowledge and service gap for this population can potentially be closed by social workers in hospital settings by pursuing a clearer understanding of the factors associated with Black Americans, such as socioeconomic

deprivation, spirituality, family values, attitudes toward seeking mental health help, and intentions about culturally-relevant engagement strategies and care models.

Despite the apparent need for prevention and treatment of mental health problems, there are racial disparities in the utilization of mental health services. These differences have been linked to systemic, structural, and cultural challenges that ethnic minorities face (Lee et al., 2021). Among Black Americans with mental health issues, less than 30% seek professional mental health services (Coombs et al., 2021). The African American community experience reduced access to necessary mental health care due to a lack of financial means, health insurance, and inadequate culturally acceptable mental health treatments (Coombs et al., 2021). Across all ethnic minority groups, stigma and unfavorable views about mental health care are frequent obstacles that impede service utilization (Lee et al., 2021; Moreno & Chhatwal, 2020). A lack of understanding of mental health issues, social support, and culturally sensitive treatment options are other significant barriers to African Americans obtaining help for mental health problems (Lee et al., 2021). Understanding the significant challenges African Americans face when seeking care for mental health issues and the efficacy of culturally-appropriate engagement tactics during the social worker's assessment could help improve their mental health status.

Black Americans lack the desire to seek mental health assistance (Taylor & Kuo, 2019). Therefore, it is likely that when Black Americans seek professional psychiatric assistance, they do it unwillingly or out of necessity. Clients with unfavorable attitudes toward obtaining help are more likely to experience poor treatment outcomes than those

with positive attitudes toward seeking help (Taylor & Kuo, 2019). With many problems which bedevil African Americans with mental illness, such as a lack of trust in the healthcare system and its workers and the problem of affordability, misunderstanding between them and clinicians, many of them resort to informal support systems.

According to Avent et al. (2021), African Americans frequently turn to various unofficial sources of support, including friends, family, and spiritual authorities. African Americans with mental illness may feel better at ease using these support systems. Clinicians and mental health professionals must thoroughly comprehend the intents, attitudes, and views of the Black community regarding obtaining mental health care (Taylor & Kuo, 2019). An improved comprehension of the elements influencing Black Americans' attitudes toward receiving mental health care and their intentions about culturally-appropriate engagement strategies and care models can aid in closing the critical knowledge and service gap for this population.

Culturally-Competent Practice

In clarifying the concept of culturally-competent healthcare, it is pertinent to examine how scholars have attempted to conceptualize and operationalize this phrase. The Association of American Medical Colleges (2016) operationalized cultural competence to be the ability to demonstrate knowledge and an understanding of the role of culture in healthcare (McGregor et al., (2019). According to MacGregor et al. (2019), cultural competency in healthcare settings has long been acknowledged as a crucial component of high-quality healthcare delivery. It will continue to be crucial as society gets more and more diversified. The cultural competence principle will attempt to

untangle how African Americans interpret these experiences and bring it to bear on their attitude to others and their mental health behaviour. In furtherance of the discussion on the importance of cultural competence, the issue of cultural diversity was raised by Foronda (2020), who emphasized the importance of recognizing the diversity and applying cultural humility for successful outcomes. According to the above author, diversity is vastly broad. It includes cultural differences that span from differences in beliefs among nations, communities, and groups to diversity at the individual level, including diversity of thought (Foronda, 2020). The information in this paragraph is essential to this study because it explains progress in the development of the study objective and significance by demonstrating the relevance of culturally-competent mental health care to address health care problems among African Americans in hospital settings.

Culturally-competent practice enhances care provision to various patient populations and lessens healthcare inequities (Macgregor et al., 2019). Experts advise improving patient-provider interaction, such as increasing the provider's understanding of personal and cultural biases and views, the provider's response to patient cultural needs, and trust-building (Adebayo et al., 2020). To ensure that minority and underprivileged communities receive healthcare services effectively, intercultural competence training should be prioritized, especially in medical and nursing schools (Adebayo et al., 2020). The social work profession is responsible for fostering interpersonal trust between patients, families, and communities while addressing communication issues with patients of African heritage. Establishing sincere, culturally safe relationships with patients should

be a top priority for healthcare providers. Patients are more inclined to divulge information about their health if they feel respected and understood by their healthcare professionals (Adebayo et al., 2020). To provide culturally sensitive therapy, one must be aware of the therapist's biases and those of the profession (Kelley et al., 2020). Healthcare professionals who work with African Americans can employ critical consciousness, which consists of awareness, a cognitive process, sensitivity, and affective awareness. As part of both official and informal continuing education, clinicians should constantly educate themselves about the problems that Black families encounter to improve their capacity to assist Black families effectively. The information in this paragraph is crucial to this study because it demonstrates its significance by showing how cultural competence could be used to ensure adequate provision of mental health care to the African American population.

Cultural Care and Racially-Harmonious Workforces

This idea refers to culturally-based care knowledge, actions, and decisions applied in sensitive and knowledgeable ways to fit the clients' cultural values, beliefs, and lifeways effectively and meaningfully for their health and well-being or to prevent illness, disability, or death (Leininger, 2006a; McFarland, 2018b; McFarland & Webhe-Alamah, 2019). A commonly mentioned approach in workforce management and healthcare is creating a culturally compatible staff that reflects the community (White et al., 2019). The commitment to fostering an inclusive work environment must start at the top with a clear articulation of the institution's vision and mission (Kersey-Matusiak, 2019). This tactic minimizes racial and ethnic minorities' mistrust of healthcare providers

and systems. The results of attempts to increase patients' and caregivers' cultural and racial compatibility depend on the staff's conviction that racial compatibility is a good indicator of superior care (Kersey-Matusiak, 2019). According to experts, increased workforce diversity has advantages, including better patient-provider communication, greater access to healthcare in underprivileged areas, and improved patient trust (Bonar, 2019). Understanding the effects of racial and cultural awareness in healthcare practice requires understanding the caregiver's perspective.

Social Workers in Hospitals

The interface between patients and the mental health treatment system is frequently provided by caregivers or non-professionals who assist in pursuing adequate treatment and improving outcomes. The work of social workers in a healthcare setting is an essential health resource in the United States (Joy et al., 2019). Due to their broad skill sets, social workers carry out a variety of duties in integrated health settings. Social workers are qualified to support the treatment of the "whole person in integrated care settings due to their training and knowledge of psychosocial risk factors for health, as well as their proficiency in behavioral health screening, assessment, and use of evidence-based interventions (Saxe Zerden et al., 2019). In the United States, there are currently 114,040 social workers employed in facilities for mental health and drug abuse treatment (United States Department of Labor, 2016; Nguyen, 2020). In addition to providing direct services, these social workers fulfill various other duties. They have made several contributions to drug treatment programs through their active involvement in creating, putting into practice, overseeing, and assessing clinical treatment programs (Nguyen,

2020). Winnett (2022) described the critical responsibilities of healthcare social workers as pre-admission assessments, high-risk screenings, crisis intervention, short-term counseling, care planning, and patient advocacy with other agencies and specialists. Additionally, hospital social workers engage in resource supply and coordination, longer-term post-hospitalization counseling, and care management for patients and their families (Winnett, 2022). Social workers frequently assist patients and their families in navigating complicated health systems, organizing multifaceted care plans, educating patients on health and wellness, addressing behavioral health through a variety of treatment modalities, facilitating connections to necessary non-medical resources, and advocating for patients across care teams to improve overall access to care (Winnett, 2022).

Social workers engage in patients' discharge planning by assessing patients' needs and educating them on how to be more involved in their healthcare (Ross et al., 2021). Social workers coordinate with other healthcare professionals to ensure patients understand their treatment and discharge instructions (Rowe et al., 2019). Information on the patient's diagnosis, the course of their illness, their medicine, and future appointments are included in the discharge instructions (Steils et al., 2021). It is essential to ensure that patients understand their discharge instructions to ensure adequate health maintenance. Patients who are not engaged and understand their discharge plan are at an increased risk of missing follow-up appointments, making self-care errors, and frequent readmission and poor health outcome (Steils et al., 2021). Social workers participating in discharge planning with patients and their families may increase patients' overall health outcomes and reduce frequent readmission (Steils et al., 2021).

Professional social workers are leading the way in integrating social care into health care, following their recommendations through awareness, adjustment, assistance, alignment, and advocacy (Reed et al., 2020). A long-standing component of professional social work addresses the upstream socioeconomic variables that influence people's health, such as having access to secure housing, safe transportation, and a decent wage (Reed et al., 2020). Social work practice is built on systems integration at various levels of intervention with individuals, families, communities, organizations, and policy. Professional social workers play a distinctive and crucial role in interprofessional teams to improve health and quality of life for people, families, and communities (Reed et al., 2020). The social worker conducts an initial assessment within 48 hours of admission after receiving the patient's consent to treatment (Reed et al., 2020). During this intake, the practical aspects of receiving care are discussed, and home care, family engagement, and other environmental factors are assessed and evaluated (Reed et al., 2020). The social worker conducts screenings for concerns that could hinder a positive health outcome, such as elder or domestic abuse, financial or benefit difficulties, caregiver absence or stress, and treated or untreated mental health conditions (Berrett-Abebe et al., 2020). The psychosocial assessment and the patient's medical needs determine the intervention's care plan and follow-up schedule. Before the patient is discharged from the hospital, the social worker assesses their home care requirements and safety (Ross et al., 2021). In addition to the medical and safety screening, this assessment gives the clinical team additional data to support their decision-making and helps to direct the admission process. The social worker investigates the existence and sufficiency of the patient's health insurance

(Ross et al., 2021; Berrett-Abebe et al., 2020). The social worker also discusses any issues with home accessibility (such as security and whether the elevator works), the state of the house, and any problems with utilities, such as running water, heat, and air conditioning (Ross et al., 2021).

Social works encounter challenges in hospital settings during practice with patients in medical and mental health care (Daphna-Tekoah, 2021). Occasionally, physical care and psychological therapy are combined to treat trauma victims. The therapy is focused, immediate, and varies from department to department. Social workers encounter patients who have gone through life-threatening traumatic incidents, mental health issues, injuries, acute or chronic illnesses, and death both during their regular hospital job and when they are on call for emergencies (Daphna-Tekoah, 2021). Social workers may face challenges and opportunities while working in interprofessional, integrated care teams. Finding ways to help social workers operate more effectively in teams can lead to better patient care (Zerden et al., 2019). Krunkberg (2019) named stigma, the problem of affordability and accessibility, and the challenge of working with interdisciplinary teams as crucial issues facing mental health social workers. This is especially so in the case of mentally ill African Americans because this population is already stigmatized in the US. Krunkberg (2019) further pointed out that social workers may face the challenge of working in an interdisciplinary team in which other members do not understand the social worker's contributions to the treatment of patients. This becomes a challenge to the social worker as he/she struggles to advocate for and educate the patient. Importantly, it is difficult for the social worker to accomplish this task if

he/she does understand the patient's perceptions, beliefs, and experiences. Notably, a lack of effective communication between the patient and the social worker may create a significant challenge for the social worker because it can impede the patient's recovery. Kerrigan et al. (2021) observed that patient-centred communication is not prioritized in hospitals due to how hospital processes are implemented. The dominant attitude is that doctors believe we are here to do medicine, not the soft stuff (2021). This indicates that doctors do not consider communicating effectively with patients essential, making the health practitioner lose a significant ingredient that boosts treatment outcomes. Kerrigan et al. (2021) also found that accelerated discharge and poor communication often result in patients' readmission, contributing to the negative perception of patients who were labeled frequent flyers. Frequently readmitted patients are perceived as a chore and an inconvenience in your day. This experience stresses the importance of effective communication through culturally competent principles. This implies that some of them found in hospitals may not want to sustain the hospital encounter, which may create problems for the social worker. Professional counsellors must be aware of African American clients' religious backgrounds as those culturally informed increase helpseeking and retention of counselling (Kerrigan et al., 2021). As demonstrated in this paragraph, understanding social workers' challenges during practice with patients support this study's purpose.

In an integrated health and social care system, a social worker's duty in an acute hospital can be broadly defined as determining the service users and their family's need for social and medical care and assuring their social well-being. In their research, Heenan

and Birrell (2019) examined hospital-based social work difficulties at the intersection of health and social care. The study results show that social workers thought their jobs were difficult to define since they were complex, wide-ranging, and multifaceted. Their difficulties include coping with complicated family relationships, which are often in crisis, and working with elderly patients who have trouble making decisions. (Heenan & Birrell, 2019; Schultz et al., 2021). Intersectoral communication and a lack of time to handle routine duties, which hindered coordination, were other difficulties met by social workers that this study discovered. The results of their study are pertinent to my research because they support the development of the objective of my research and facilitate its conclusions by revealing the roles and challenges social workers face when providing mental health services to the African American population in hospital settings.

Afrocentrism

The foundation for this study was Dr. Molefi Asante's Afrocentric conceptual model which holds that studying and comprehending African Americans' lives requires an awareness of the history, culture, and experiences of individuals of African heritage. The Afrocentric perspective aims to combat oppression and promote ideals like culture, spirituality, community, and cooperation inside and outside the African American community (Asante, 2003; Hong et al., 2020). This theory is pertinent to this study because it offers a framework that directs and instructs social workers on how to deal effectively with clients who are facing social exclusion. With the use of the Afrocentric social work method, social workers may better comprehend how historical oppression and ongoing racial discrimination at the structural level led to various difficulties and

obstacles encountered by the African American population at the individual level (Hong et al., 2020). Gaining insight into this orientation could enable social workers providing mental healthcare services to African Americans during hospitalization to understand the patients' perceptions, beliefs, and attitudes toward mental healthcare and the healthcare system. This awareness could make it possible for the social workers to improve their knowledge on the utilization of culturally-competent mental healthcare practice with African American population.

The Afrocentric social work approach is founded on critical tenets of the Afrocentric perspective. The guiding principles promote knowledge of Black people and their rich culture that honors and fosters Black joy, love, excellence, and group power and well-being (Liber et al., 2022). In addition, the principles provide Black people with a means of affirming and strengthening family, community, and culture and help them create a peaceful and harmonious oneness in their struggle for freedom, justice, peace, and human flourishing in the world (Liben et al., 2022; Gebremikael et al., 2022). One can discover life's purpose, improve self-esteem, and gain social skills by cultivating harmonious relationships. As essential cultural values, friendship, compassion, sharing, honesty, courage, harmony, and self-control are upheld by interconnected connections (Liben et al., 2022). Considering this, isolated circumstances like social isolation and alienation from interrelated human interactions may be the root of certain people's issues and dysfunctions (Hong et al.; Liben et al., 2022). The spirituality that unites all people with one another and with the creator or invisible universal substance is another crucial concept. Since the spiritual nature of people can transcend the current time and space,

emphasizing spirituality from an Afrocentric perspective necessitates a paradigm shift in how we value people. Rather than their current social and economic standing, we should value people for who they are as human beings (Hong et al., 2020). According to the Afrocentric viewpoint, spirituality comprises the act of caring and sharing and moral development in addition to spiritual development. This idea is pertinent to this study since the tenets of the Afrocentric approach to Black health encourage culturally relevant healthcare based on the beliefs, worldviews, and histories of Black people of African origin (Hong et al., 2020). Social workers' use of the Afrocentric approach during mental health practice with African American population could disrupt systemic discrimination and inequalities and improve their mental health outcomes.

Afrocentricity originated from the need for social workers and other health workers serving African communities to have a practical reference guide to help them gain more understanding of the people they serve. The Afrocentric paradigm offers a crucial organizing principle for the growth of social work knowledge at the individual, group, societal, and global levels (Schiele, 1996). While highlighting the African American population's distinctive contributions, capacities, and capabilities, it also emphasizes the value of humanity (Bent-Goodley et al., 2017). It serves as a reminder to social workers that they must address the human condition and be committed to a person's development regardless of their color, ethnicity, gender, social class, or region (Bent-Goodley, 2017). Doing so offers a perspective that is open to all people while still emphasizing what it means to belong to the African American community. Afrocentricity as a social work theory beams its light on Africans/African Americans, their unique life

experiences, their culture, and the peculiar African thought which shape the behavior of the people, including their behavior when they are sick (Bent Goodley et al., 2017; Hong et al., 2020). According to Bent-Goodley et al. (2017), Afrocentricity uses African philosophies, histories, and cultures as a point of departure for interpreting social and psychological phenomena to develop appropriate strategies for societal change and promote personal, family, and community development. Learning about African Americans' philosophical and conceptual thought during social work practice may inspire the adoption of culturally competent practice to address the difficulties these communities are now facing (Bent-Goodley et al., 2017; Hong et al., 2020).

Although the Afrocentric perspective is essential for promoting utilization of African American strengths, there has been considerable discussion regarding whether the Afrocentric social work method ignores the complexity, distinctiveness, and diversity of cultures within African American communities (Hong et al., 2020). However, the Afrocentric social work approach respects diversity instead and supports the cultural diversity of people of African heritage (Hong et al., 2020). Working across all individuals, family, and community systems is one philosophy and method that can be effective in the Afrocentric social work approach. Others include eradicating oppression and fostering collectivism and spirituality, acknowledging the socio-cultural distinctiveness of people of African descent, developing a collective understanding of human identity and needs, recognizing the importance and relevance of spirituality, and elevating race and racialism (Hong et al., 2020). The fundamental tenets and values of the Afrocentric approach form the basis of the social work profession. As we position this

perspective at the core of the helping process closely matched with client strengths, the Afrocentric social work approach not only supports culturally competent practice but also encourages empowerment, growth, and transformation (Liben et al., 2022). By understanding African culture, social workers in the hospital setting can determine the cultural challenges of providing adequate mental health service to African American population. The Afrocentric theory is relevant for this study because it allows social workers to be part of the African American culture, which can aid in the cultural sharing pattern while conducting basic qualitative research.

When employed in a research study, Afrocentric theory exposes scholars to an ideology that emphasizes African American values, spirituality, and ritual (Pellebon, 2007). Consequently, selecting Black Americans as the research's focus group enables an analysis based on African tradition, history, and culture (Turner, 2002). The Africancentered researcher is dedicated to advancing studies supporting participants' voices. It is based on the notion that each person's experience is distinctive, and that each person's story contributes to creating new knowledge (Bent-Goodley, 2017). As a result, research that respects and honors the person and the community is attained. The researcher sees the community as depending on them. Other proponents of Afrocentric theory also held the need for focus research on Black Americans. W.E.B. DuBois had a significant role in the development of Afrocentric theory. According to DuBois (1929), the American public and Black people both believed that the abolition of slavery would usher in wealth. However, this was not the case because Black people encountered a political and social

undercurrent of dread and fear. To analyze the information gathered, DuBois adopted an Afrocentric viewpoint.

Afrocentric theory has been applied in relevant studies in social work research. In his research, Koketso (2019) used the Afrocentric theory to examine the romantic relationships of teen dads in Vaalbank, Mpumalanga Province, South Africa. Through semi-structured interviews, his study investigated the experiences of seven participants who were teen dads. The study found that their parents and peers encouraged them when the subjects revealed they were adolescent fathers. Others emphasized that they had discovered they needed to get employment as fathers through speaking with their peers. The community, however, required a deeper level of comprehension than the families and friends of the teen dads. Residents of the community anticipate a grown man, not a teenager, to be a father. This article demonstrates how the community has preconceived notions about young fathers, viewing them as outcasts who do not adhere to cultural norms (Koketso, 2019). Understanding the cultural values of African American population and how they influence their decision-making and quality of life is relevant in defining the purpose of this study. Social workers in hospital settings can improve practice with African American populations with a mental health problem when they understand the values they attach to their problem and how these values impact their mental health problems.

Lewis et al. (2022) investigated the contextual elements and interpersonal interactions that support the development of a close bond between Black sons-in-law and their in-laws. Using a semi-structured interview method, Black/African American sons-

in-law were questioned about the quality of their interactions with their in-laws. The study results indicate that sons-in-law felt that sharing common interests and trying to participate in family events and gatherings shaped the relationship. Shared beliefs, open lines of communication, and mutual support were also seen as essential elements of a good and happy relationship (Lewis et al., 2022). The outcome of this research is relevant to my study because it supports the development of the study's objective by illustrating the impact of incorporating culture and value systems during practice with African American population. Social workers in hospital settings can improve mental health care for African American population by adopting culturally oriented communication skills, mutual support, and shared value method of practice.

As such, applying the Afrocentricity theory to this study could further contribute knowledge in culturally competent mental health practice with African Americans in hospitals. In applying this theory to the study, what immediately comes to mind is diversity, discrimination, oppression, incarceration, and the trauma associated with African Americans, which impact their behaviour and mental health. Also, these experiences encountered by African Americans in American society culminated into and added to the unique cultural orientation of the people (Novacek et al., 2020). Gaining insight into this orientation could enable social workers providing mental health services to African Americans to understand the patients' perceptions, beliefs, and attitudes toward mental healthcare. This insight could make it possible for social workers to understand effective cultural measures to adopt to reduce the challenges of providing mental health

practices to African Americans in hospital settings which is part of the purpose of this study.

Application of Theoretical Framework to Promote Social Change

The Afrocentric theory was used in this study to analyze the challenges faced by social workers in implementing a culturally competent practice with African Americans in hospitals. Understanding the Afrocentricity model and its application could enable social workers and other healthcare providers to provide culturally sensitive interventions, implement individualized treatment, and increase service outcomes. The theoretical framework may also empower social change in the social work field by serving as a foundation to develop a culturally competent practice model that will help eliminate healthcare disparities experienced by African American population. To advance social work practice, professionals must implement research-based strategies to increase their intercultural awareness of the African American population. Due to the continuous need to provide mental healthcare to African Americans in the United States, understanding the challenges social workers encounter while implementing culturally competent mental healthcare to this population during hospitalization may be used to implement social change in the social work field and within African American population. My proposed research study could contribute to advancing and adopting new concepts, methods, and strategies that restore the successful use of a culturally competent practice with a varied population to enhance their health outcomes. An academic movement enhancing mission-driven change is an instance of positive social change (Walden University, 2015). The results of my research project could impact Walden's

mission of social change by establishing a learning community where knowledge is leveraged to identify and address significant societal problems.

Summary

In Section 1, I described the study's goal involving using a basic qualitative research design to examine social worker challenges when establishing culturally-competent mental health practices with African Americans in hospitals. The healthcare industry faces difficulties in terms of ensuring equal care because of demographic diversity. Cultural competence is a measure to address equity in terms of access to and quality of care for African American populations in hospitals. Despite being the second-largest minority group in the U.S., African Americans still faces unnecessary obstacles in terms of high-quality healthcare compared to their White counterparts. As a profession based on caring, social workers are expected to address healthcare disparities among minority groups. This study involved gathering information using semi-structured interviews via Zoom. I also discussed the basic qualitative research design this section, along with Afrocentricity. Additionally, I researched academic studies on strategic factors. The research design, methodology, data analysis strategy, and ethical procedure are all addressed in Section 2.

Section 2: Research Design and Data Collection

I aimed to explore challenges social workers face when implementing culturally-competent mental health practices with African American populations in hospitals. In this chapter, I outline the research design and methodology and provide a rationale to support use of a basic qualitative research design. The data analysis plan and ethical procedures are addressed.

Research Design

I used the basic qualitative research design to explore challenges social workers face when implementing culturally-competent mental health practices with African American populations in hospital settings. The research questions in this study were:

- RQ1: How do social workers describe how cultural issues create challenges when providing mental healthcare services to African Americans in hospital settings?
- RQ2: What do mental healthcare social workers perceive as benefits to providing culturally-competent treatment to African American patients in hospital settings?
- RQ3: How do social workers in hospital settings incorporate cultural competence into their work when providing mental healthcare to African Americans in hospital settings?

The qualitative research method is often used in the human services field to gather data involving gaining an in-depth understanding of a selected group's perceptions, levels of satisfaction, and needs based on a specific topic (Ravitch & Carl, 2021). According to Merriam and Tisdell (2016), basic qualitative research can be used to investigate and

characterize experiences involving a situation or event. My goal was to identify best ways to describe or investigate experiences.

Methodology

The purpose of this study was to explore experiences of social workers involving implementing culturally-competent mental health practice with African Americans in hospital settings. For this study, individual semi-structured recorded interviews and openended questions were used to obtain data from 10 selected participants through Zoom meetings. Via semi-structured interviews, I organized and guided interviews to include specific and tailored follow-up questions within and across interviews. Order of questions and wording of specific questions followed a conversational path that was co-constructed with each participant. To protect participant privacy and confidentiality, interviews were performed through Zoom in a private setting that was convenient for them (office, home, or public space). Ravitch and Carl (2021) explained that conducting interviews through online technologies such as Zoom, Skype, or Google Hangout allows for potential access to a more significant number of people given geographical and other access and mobility issues, as well as potentially lower costs and less inconvenience to participants given that there is no travel required. Interviews were recorded using a computer voice recorder. Information gathered from interviews was then transcribed and coded to find similar themes during data analysis. Pseudonyms were used throughout the data collection process to ensure confidentiality for participants. USB drives and personal computers were encrypted using a unique password to store data. I followed the NASW code of ethics and IRB ethical standards. Retrieved data went through coding cycles to find

similar themes. Results of the study were shown using data that were analyzed. Data analysis is shown in tables.

I used reflexive journaling to document my thoughts and feelings as I conducted interviews and listened to participants' reflections on their experiences. According to Meyer and Willis (2019), reflexive journaling can be used to develop strategic and carefully considered ways to address challenges and help researchers understand positionality. Interviews questions were limited in number and open-ended. They were written so they were readily understood, made sense, and were answerable. Participants were given 45 to 60 minutes to complete interviews and respond to questions. To ensure suitability of this time frame, I conducted a mock interview with two of my colleagues to determine the estimated time it would take for participants to respond to interview questions. It took an average of 48 minutes to an hour for each of my colleagues to complete the mock interview test.

Participants

The purpose of this study was to explore experiences of social workers in terms of implementing culturally-competent mental health practices with African Americans in hospital settings. I used a purposeful sampling strategy to select participants and research locations in order to learn about the main phenomenon and understand it. Participants were 10 full-time mental health social workers with at least 2 years of experience working with African Americans in hospital settings within Houston, TX. Qualitative research often involves a smaller sample size, and based on the nature of the research, 10 or fewer participants were required.

All participants in this study lived in Houston TX, were full-time mental health social workers with at least 2 years of experience working with African Americans, and were employed within a hospital healthcare system. There were no criteria for ethnicity and gender; all nationalities were eligible for participation in the study. Participants were contacted using LinkedIn. After connecting with participants, I sent them invitation emails. After establishing their interest in participating in the study, I sent consent forms to request formal volunteer social worker participation. I selected from those participants who agreed to eligibility terms and signed consent forms. Data were collected using indepth and face-to-face interviews via Zoom that were open-ended (see Appendix A). I requested from selected participants permission to schedule interviews. Participants were asked to select suitable dates and times for interview and notified about Zoom links. Interested participants were provided with my contact information to ensure confidentiality. Participants were given information about the study's methodology. I used the format provided by the IRB's Office of Research and Compliance. There were no rewards to participants for taking part in the study. Selected participants were made aware of the study's purpose and how it could be used to advance practice. Each participant was informed and given a choice to decide whether they could commit to individual interviews. They were informed that participating in the study was entirely voluntary and they could withdraw at any time. They were given 45 to 60 minutes to complete interviews and respond to questions.

Instrumentation

According to Ravitch and Carl (2021), the researcher is the primary data collection instrument in a basic qualitative research study. Other instruments used for this research study include semi-structured interviews and open-ended questions to gain insight into the participant's knowledge about the phenomenon. In this approach, the order of questions and wording of specific questions follow a similar conversational path co-constructed with each participant (Ravitch & Carl, 2021). According to Price and Smith (2021), semi-structured interview data give us a view into the complex cognitive links that humans draw in our minds when processing our social worlds. This type of interview is conversational, with the interviewer asking questions and following up the participant's responses with questions that gain clarification or further insight (Price & Smith, 2021). In addition, researchers can use a semi-structured interview approach to gain insights into a topic by organizing several questions before engaging in talks with participants (Patton, 2015). The phenomenon of interest was investigated using an openended interview question. According to Patton (2015), open-ended questions reduce the imposition of predefined responses like fixed survey items. It is preferable to offer openended questions so that respondents can react using their own words (Patton, 2015). With the open-ended question, the interviewees are free to express themselves in whatever way they choose and with any words they feel comfortable with (Patton, 2015).

Additional instruments that were used for data collection include, a computer voice recorder, a laptop with a camera or mobile phone, a Zoom video conferencing device, and a journal. The data analysis plan used includes using NVivo 14 computer data

analysis software and content analysis. The interview consisted of questions based on the theoretical concept supported by the empirical literature. I used reflexive journaling to capture any pertinent contextual material that comes to mind. Reflective journaling can enhance engagement and decision-making and can support researchers in learning cultural humility (Burner, 2019).

Data Analysis

The purpose of this basic qualitative study was to explore the experiences of social workers in implementing a culturally competent mental health practice with African Americans in hospital settings. The main research questions used to explore this problem include: how do social workers describe how cultural issues create challenges when providing mental health care services to African Americans in hospital setting? What do mental health care social workers perceive as the benefits to providing culturally competent treatment to African American patients in hospital settings? How do social workers in hospital settings incorporate cultural competence into their work when providing mental health care to their African American patients? In alignment with the research approach, my analysis plan included using NVivo 14 computer data analysis software to transcribe recorded interviews verbatim and content analysis to search for recurring words or themes.

The NVivo 14 is simple to use and regarded as excellent for analyzing both organized and unstructured data, extracting information about participant experiences, assessing theories, and producing conclusions and outcomes (Harris, n.d.). Application of the NVivo qualitative software could produce findings that are supported by evidence and

disclose an in-depth understanding of the issue (Harris, n.d.). In comparison to manual coding, using NVivo software makes it simpler to find themes and patterns. It enables collaboration and data comparison among numerous research team members. Reviewing each line, phrase, or paragraph will help me identify the themes and ideas that best capture what the participants' replies meant to me. Content analysis is a general term for identifying, organizing, and categorizing narrative text content. According to Patton (2015), it involves searching the text for and counting recurring words or themes. Content analysis usually involves analyzing interview transcripts, diaries, or documents to identify core consistencies and meanings (Patton, 2015).

Ethical Procedures

In this current study, I adopted ethical procedures by sending out invitations to participate in the research study through emails and informed consent to selected participants before data collection (Walden University). According to Trachsel and Holtforth (2019), informed consent is a requirement for all interventions and a moral obligation that reflects the individual's right to self-determination, patient well-being, protection, and the principle of doing no harm. Participants were assured that the data collected was kept private, secured, and only used for this study. Confidentiality pertains to a person's privacy and involves deciding how and what participant data will be shared (Ravitch & Carl, 2021). Participants were promptly notified that some of their identifying information, such as names, distinctive qualities, or job titles, will not be included in their final report. Coded items were used to avoid revealing participant's name or any other

aspect of their identity. Participants were reminded of their freedom to decline participation without incurring any penalties.

The researcher respected the participants by clearly reviewing the informed consent form and giving participants adequate time to review it and ask questions (Ravitch & Carl, 2021). As the researcher, I was mindful of the participant's feelings and respectfully listened and engaged with them during the interview. Before the study, participants were made aware that there would be no compensation for their participation. It was apparent to participants that participating in the study is entirely voluntary and that they are free to stop at any moment. Electronic equipment like a USB drive and a personal computer were encrypted with a personal password to store the data obtained during the interview. These data were utilized following the NASW code of ethics and IRB ethical standards. Participants included social workers from different cultural backgrounds as a method to incorporate cultural competence during the interview. The researcher adopted a culturally sensitive and unbiased interview approach that promotes respect for the diversity of the participants and cultural factors that can affect their language, communication style, beliefs, attitudes, and behaviors (Ravitch & Carl, 2021).

Summary

In Section 2, I introduced the research design and data collection methods, which involved using a basic qualitative design to explore challenges of social workers in terms of implementing culturally-competent mental health practices with African Americans in hospital settings. The data collection method involved individual semi-structured and recorded interviews with selected participants through Zoom. I described the purposeful

sampling strategy, aiming for a sample of 10 full-time mental health social workers with at least 2 years of experience working with African Americans in hospital settings within Houston, TX. I also reviewed the data analysis plan involving content analysis and NVivo 14. I addressed ethical procedures relating to this study. Data analysis technique and findings are in Section 3.

Section 3: Presentation of the Findings

The purpose of this basic qualitative study was to explore experiences of social workers in terms of implementing culturally-competent mental health practices with African Americans in hospital settings within Houston, Texas. The research questions were:

RQ1: How do social workers describe how cultural issues create challenges when providing mental healthcare services to African Americans in hospital settings?

RQ2: What do mental healthcare social workers perceive as benefits to providing culturally-competent treatment to African American patients in hospital settings?

RQ3: How do social workers in hospital settings incorporate cultural competence into their work when providing mental healthcare to African Americans in hospital settings?

I used individual semi-structured recorded interviews and open-ended questions to obtain data from 10 selected participants through Zoom meetings. An interview protocol was used to organize and guide interviews, and follow-up questions were asked during interviews. In Section 3, I present data analysis techniques involving coding data, presentation of coding, categorization, and themes based on participant responses. This section also contains findings of the study. I address professional ethics in social work practice, recommendations for social work practice, and implications for social change.

Data Analysis Techniques

Data Collection

The Walden University IRB approved the study on May 26, 2023. Participant recruitment and interviews were conducted between June 6 and August 10, 2023. The IRB approval number is #05-26-23-0660523. I used the LinkedIn website portal for a purposeful sampling of social workers with experience providing mental health services to African American populations in hospital settings within Houston, TX. Participants were contacted through LinkedIn. After connecting with participants, I sent them invitation emails. After establishing interest in the study, I sent consent forms to selected participants. I included in the email I used to send out the consent form a request from potential participants to confirm their eligibility to participate in research. I selected those participants who agreed to eligibility terms and consent form. All participants provided consent through email by replying with the words "I consent." Interested participants gave their consent within 10 days of the time the consent form was sent. I scheduled interviews for 45 to 60 minutes with each participant at a convenient time. Zoom meeting links and access information for participation were sent to participants via email. Using Zoom, I conducted interviews using my laptop in my home office. Data were obtained from 10 participants using semi-structured interviews. Researchers use semi-structured interviews to obtain in-depth and rich data and ensure vital information is noticed (Ravitch & Carl, 2021).

Participants chosen for the research project were interviewed using interview questions (see Appendix A). Questions were developed to understand social worker

challenges involving providing mental health services to African American populations in hospital settings. The interview technique presented no noticeable difficulties. There were no technical issues or interruptions due to background noise or individuals.

Zoom links and meeting IDs were sent to each participant at least 48 hours before meetings. Because Zoom is web-based, users can quickly join a session by clicking a button. There were no technical issues with Zoom. All participants were familiar with it. Zoom was used to record interviews.

Participants freely responded to questions by sharing their detailed experiences of challenges while providing mental health services to African American populations in hospital settings. Every participant received a personalized email with interview transcripts for their review and permission. The data collection process involved recruitment of participants, obtaining their consent, scheduling and conducting interviews, transcribing interview data, and transcription approval for each participant, which occurred within 6 weeks from the day of the interview. Having verified interview transcripts, I began the data analysis process.

Data Analysis

The 10 interview transcripts were arranged following the planned interview order. Each transcript document file was given a name based on identifying pseudonyms (SW1, SW2, SW3, SW4, SW5, SW6, SW7, SW8, SW9, and SW10). Interview transcripts were structured in a Word document. They were read several times to understand participants' experiences. I categorized ideas and data from participants. I used NVivo 14 for data

analysis. I could find themes, annotate them for coding, and classify them based on my research findings.

The content analysis process was used for identifying, organizing, and categorizing narrative text. According to Patton (2015), it involves searching text for and counting recurring words or themes. Content analysis usually involves analyzing interview transcripts, diaries, or documents to identify core consistencies and meanings (Patton, 2015). It also involves reading interview transcripts multiple times to understand them and determine text that is relevant to the research topic (Patton, 2015).

Information included participant feedback and phrases. Developed codes were then divided into various clusters or groups. Categories were organized into groups, and themes emerged. Writing and reviewing concepts then served to characterize the phenomenon. Themes were used to establish how they relate to participant experiences involving the research topic. Codes, categories, and themes were grouped under each research question.

After creating the project file, I clicked on the external data button and imported the 10 interview transcript files that were saved in Microsoft Word. To import files into NVivo for analysis, I navigated to the folder, selected every file, and then clicked open. In NVivo, imported files were shown on the source folder in ascending sequence, from SW1 to SW10. I opened each interview transcript by clicking on it to display its contents, and then I began coding data in NVivo. Codes were created based on the meaning of codes in interview transcripts regarding each research question. I moved and highlighted

text where information was based on participants' exact words. The codes that were developed based on RQ1, RQ2, and RQ3.

Codes and References

Table 1Title of Table 1

Codes for RQI	Files	References
(RQ1) Cultural Issues and	10	27
Challenges		
cultural variations and	1	1
disparities		
Denial of Mental Health	8	9
Disengaged family	1	1
background.		
Hospital Rules and Policies	1	1
Inadequate feelings	1	1
Inadequate time frame	1	2
lack of cultural knowledge	2	2
Lack of Training	1	1
Providers being culturally	3	3
incompetent		
providers with diversity	1	2
Resistance with sharing information	2	4

Table 2Title of Table 2

Codes for RQ2	Files	References	
(RQ2) Benefit of Culturally	10	25	
Competent			
Autonomy	1	1	
Better communication	3	3	
Feeling more comfortable	1	1	

Gaining In depth knowledge of client's problems	2	2
Improved Assessment	2	3
improved outcome because am black	1	2
improved self-believe	3	3
Modification of practice	1	1
More Understanding	3	4
Non-judgmental	1	2
Patients satisfactory and improved outcome	1	1
Safe and effective Discharge outcome	1	1

Table 3Title of Table 3

Codes for RQ3	Files	References
(RQ3) Strategies to Incorporating	9	39
Cultural Competence		
Acknowledging them	3	4
Active listening	1	3
Assertive communication	1	1
Being empathetic	3	4
Being open	2	3
diverse providers	1	1
Improved self-awareness	3	3
Involving family During	5	6
Intervention		
Meeting patients where they are	5	7

From the above tables, files represent the number of participants connected to a specific code, while references are the number of significant information connected to a specific code. Categorization was done by exporting all codes from NVivo to Word

documents by clicking on the export list. I started categorization with the dominant codes by placing them in each cluster and dragging each related code to each dominant code.

After clustering, I labeled each cluster to form themes related to each research question, as shown below (table 4, 5, and 6).

Categorization of Codes

Table 4Title of Table 4

Cluster 1, Denial of mental health services.	Cluster 2: Cultural Diversity in healthcare	Cluster 3: Being Culturally incompetence	Cluster 4: Inadequate hospital programs.
Denial of Mental Health	Cultural variations	Culturally incompetent.	Hospital Rules and
Resistance with	and		Policies.
sharing information	disparities.	lack of	
		cultural	Inadequate
Disengaged family background.	Providers with	knowledge	time frame
	diversity	Lack of	
Inadequate feelings		Training	

Table 5Title of Table 5

Cluster 1: Effective	Cluster 2:	Cluster 3:	Cluster 4:	Cluster 5:
communication	Attaining	Improved	Effective	Supports
	Comprehensive	patient	discharge	Patient focused
	assessment	resilience	outcome	intervention.

More Understanding	Gaining In-depth knowledge of client's problems	Improved selfbelief.	Patients satisfactory and improved	Modification of practice
Better		Feeling more	outcome	Autonomy
communication	Improved	comfortable		
	Assessment		Improved	
Non-judgmental			outcome	
			because am	
			black.	
			Safe and	
			effective	
			Discharge	
			outcome	

Table 6Title of Table 6

Cluster 1: Respecting diversity	Cluster 2: Involving family	Cluster 3: use of empathy	Cluster 4: learning about biases and culture	Cluster 5: recognizing spirituality	Cluster 6: Active listening
Meeting patients where they are. Acknowledging them Patient Diversity	Involving family During Interventio n	Being empatheti c Talking to them politely	Improved self-awarenes s Providers awarenes s of biases Diverse providers	Recognizin g spirituality and religion	Active listening Assertive communication Being open

As previously mentioned, the themes were created by classifying each code into several groups or clusters. I then inserted the highlighted text into the newly developed theme. Once all pertinent texts had been classified under the theme based on participant replies to each study question, the process was repeated numerous times. Finally, I produced the report in Table 7 below using the NVivo program. Each study topic, which examined the difficulties faced by social workers in delivering mental health care to African Americans in hospital settings, served as the foundation for the report.

Themes from Data Collection

Table 7 *Title of Table 7*

	Files	References
(RQ1) Cultural Issues and	10	27
Challenges (Theme) Culturally	6	6
incompetence		
(Theme) Cultural Diversity in	2	3
healthcare (Thoma) David of montal health	10	1.5
(Theme) Denial of mental health services.	10	15
(Theme) Inadequate hospital	1	3
programs.		
	10	25
(RQ2) Benefit of Culturally		
Competent		
(Theme) Attaining	4	5
Comprehensive assessment		
(Theme) Effective communication	5	9
	2	4
(Theme) Effective discharge	3	4
outcome		

(Theme) Improved patient resilience	4	4
(Theme) Supports Patient	1	2
focused intervention.		
	9	39
(RQ3) Incorporating Cultural Competence		
(Theme) Active listening	4	7
(Theme) Involving family	5	6
(Theme) learning about biases and culture	3	6
(Theme) recognizing spirituality	1	1
(Theme) Respecting diversity	5	12
(Theme) use of empathy	4	6

Data Validation Procedures

The main research questions, the interview technique, and the questions (Appendix A) utilized to collect data for this study were reviewed by three specialists. These specialists included my research committee chairperson, second committee member and the Walden University research review member. These specialists were academic professionals skilled in using qualitative research techniques and culturally competent practice. To broaden the scope of the study, the committee chairperson and second committee member suggested using three research questions. The third expert who is a research review member acknowledged that the research questions aligned with the study's purpose. The experts recommended adding an interview protocol to maintain a consistent interview format for each participant. The experts endorsed the validity of the questions, confirming that they were well-structured and free of any personal bias based on the topic of interest. The IRB examined and approved the approach for purposeful sampling, participant selection, semi-structured interviewing techniques, in-person Zoom

interviews, and open-ended questions. I used the approved procedure to guide my conduct of the interviews for this research study.

To ensure that the researcher's findings might be replicated in any other research and to increase the reliability of this study, interviews were done with similar procedures.

To guarantee that the information gathered was accurate and consistent, participants were emailed a copy of their transcription within 30 days after the interview for their review and approval. This process was completed within six weeks of the interview date.

Limitations of the Study

The research's time frame constituted a limitation because participant availability for interviews depended on their schedules. The participant's responses may have been biased toward the phenomenon under study due to their own experiences because the researcher depended on their information to gather research data. The research purpose and the fact that there were no right or wrong responses to the interview questions were disclosed to the participants to address the limitation. I also asked open-ended questions pertinent to the research study while being objective.

As was the case in this current study, small sample sizes can restrict the study's generalizability (Merriam & Grenier, 2019). To address this problem, the approach employed in this study is created to offer insightful, detailed information on the participants' perspectives on the research phenomenon. Semi-structured interviews and open-ended questioning techniques were utilized to help the researcher understand the research phenomena and reach data saturation (Patton, 2015). Due to my knowledge of the research phenomenon and my professional expertise, there may have been researcher

bias. Practicing reflexivity, which I did to examine how researchers' beliefs, judgment, and practices during research could influence the research, helped mitigate this limitation (Ravitch & Carl, 2021). Throughout the data-gathering process, I maintained objectivity, asked open-ended questions pertinent to the research study, and kept a reflective journal.

Findings

Characteristics of Participants

Ten social workers with at least two years of working experience providing services to the African American population with mental health problems in hospital settings within Houston, Texas, participated in this research study. The participants were employed within a hospital healthcare system in Houston, Texas. The allocation of pseudonyms with alphanumeric codes protected the participant's confidentiality. SW1, SW2, SW3 SW4, SW5, SW6, SW7, SW8, SW9, and SW10, were used to represent the participants. The table below shows the number of participants and their positions.

Table 8Participants' Positions

Participants	Position
SW1	Social
	Worker
	care
	manager

SW2 Medical

Social

Worker.

SW3 Social

Worker

Therapist

SW4 Social

Worker

care

manager

SW5 Clinical

Social

Worker

SW6 Clinical

Social

Worker

SW7 Clinical

Social

worker

SW8 Social

Worker

Therapist

SW9	Clinical	
	Social	
	Worker	
SW10	Medical	
	Social	
	Worker	

Four themes were utilized to analysis data from research question one. Those themes were: Theme 1: Denial of Mental Health Services, Theme 2: Being Culturally Incompetence, Theme 3: Cultural Diversity in Healthcare, Theme 4: Inadequate Hospital Programs.

Different themes related to each research question were formed and utilized. The themes were employed to assist with directing the data analysis process using Egberto Ribeiro Turato, (2017) seven-step content analysis method to develop data from the participant interviews. The following Table 9 below shows the summary of the themes for RQ1, the number and percentage of the participants associated with each theme.

Table 9Summary of Themes Report for RQ1

Themes for RQ1	Participants	Total	% of participants
(Theme 1) Denial of mental health services.	SW1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, 10	10	100%
(Theme 2) Culturally incompetence	SW1, 5, 7, 8, 9, 10	6	60%
(Theme 3) Cultural Diversity in healthcare	SW 4, 9	2	20%

(Theme 4) Inadequate hospital programs.

SW1

1

10%

Theme 1: Denial of Mental Health Services

All the participants (100%) identified denial of mental health services as a significant cultural issue they encounter while providing mental health care services to African Americans in hospital settings. In the context of these findings, denial of mental health services involves the inability of people to recognize their mental health conditions and accept treatment. Denial of mental health services emerged as a theme across most of the interview questions but reflected more frequently following participants responses relating to IQ1. Most of the participants illustrated how difficult it is to engage with the African American patients with mental health problems when they fail to admit they have mental health problems. The participants believed that African American patients with mental health problems are often unconvinced about the reality of mental health problem and often decline to seek mental health care.

When asked to provide examples of situations where they experienced challenges providing mental health services to African American patients, most participants illustrated situations they struggled to provide adequate mental health services to African American patients because of their unwillingness to understand how to overcome mental health problems and respond to proper mental health treatment during hospitalization.

During the interview all the participants gave similar responses regarding their view of the African American reluctance to accept and participate in mental health care. The participants noted that many African American patients resist mental health services

because they lack self-belief on attaining a successful outcome. The participants reported that seeking mental health care is not something that's valued within the African American culture. SW1 said:

Understanding how a specific cultural group, such as the African American population, feels about mental health care is essential. In most cases, some African American patients I provide services often find it difficult to admit they have mental health problems. With this mindset, they decline to seek mental health care. That makes it difficult during my engagement with them. They are skeptical about calling it a mental health problem. They refer to mental health as just being a little crazy because they believe every individual has some amount of craziness in them. SW 1 further stated that such mindset and resistance make it more challenging for her to educate African American patients about the importance of seeking mental health care and to follow up with preventive care. African American patients try to normalize mental health problems with the belief that they can withstand mental health-related problems. They possess this natural belief of being strong enough to withstand the symptoms associated with mental health problems.

SW2 said:

So, you know, I hate to say it, but that is an easy question. And the answer is that the African American population tends not to believe that mental illness is real. You know, as African Americans, we grow up with that belief. It is a cultural belief that has been in existence from our forefathers. I believe it is one of the

main challenges I face when providing services to African American people with mental health in hospitals. You cannot even treat something you do not believe is real." With this mindset, they resist mental health intervention, and by the time they realize what is going on, their mental health decompensates and affects different aspects of their life.

All participants noted that the black culture lacks the belief that black people could have mental health problems because of their belief of being mentally strong.

SW3 said, "based on different African American dynamics, I have seen many families that believe black people do not have mental health illnesses and that it is typically a white cultural thing." Furthermore, because of that expectation, they turn down various mental services offered to them while hospitalized. SW3 said:

I think the issue is also with the African American family dynamics, believing seeking mental health services is not okay which goes back to slavery when black folks had to endure a lot. So, because we endured slavery, we are always expected to be strong.

SW 4 stated:

One challenge is the African American population's lack of acceptance of their mental health diagnosis. This challenge affects their willingness to understand how to overcome mental health problems and respond to proper mental health treatment during hospitalization. African Americans often feel that mental health problems are not a serious issue to them, notwithstanding the severity of their mental health and how it negatively impacts their life. Sometimes, I feel like they

may be too scared to face the stigma and reality of their mental health because of how they may be treated in their community.

SW 5 shared:

Many African American patients resist mental health services because they lack self-belief on a successful outcome. They believe that they have passed through this process before and that they will fail again, or it will not work, so why do it again? In essence, it appears like they are losing hope. In such situations, they set unrealistic goals, are verbally aggressive, and will not appreciate your effort as a social worker to help.

SW 6 shared:

From a cultural standpoint, African Americans do not usually believe or give credibility to mental health services. It is not something that's valued within the culture. So, knowing that this is something they do not like to participate in helps me strategize my approach during engagement with them. I have experienced some of them asking to be released against medical advice to decline any form of mental health treatment.

SW 7 shared:

I would say that the biggest challenge I face is working with African American patient that has a negative view of mental health and those who experience cultural stigma. In the community I grew up in, for instance, we never really understood the meaning of mental health. They don't attach seriousness to mental health. For example, they refer to someone who is an alcoholic as just an

alcoholic, somebody who is on drugs as just a drug addict, and someone with mental health as just crazy. Like Uncle Eddie, he's just crazy. In the community where I grew up as an African American, we don't identify with mental health problems; we instead shelter or absorb them. When asked to provide examples of situations where you experienced challenges providing mental health services to African American patients?

SW8 shared:

Some patients I have provided services to display a lack of self-belief because they feel their options for getting quality care are limited. It is a cultural thing among African Americans probably because of their history of discrimination, especially in healthcare. For instance, one of my African American patients with mental health problems once stated," I have been trying to get Social Security for years telling them that I had pain in my leg, and they kept denying me just because I am black, so why would they change now because am still black."

Sometimes, it can be frustrating and disheartening when you have a patient who comes in and declines services and would rather be on the streets just because of their belief in discrimination based on race.

SW 9 shared:

During patient engagement, I have encountered patients with mental health problems from the African American community who believe they are not crazy and sincerely presume one does not have to be crazy. They feel like they are being judged when you refer to them as being mentally ill, making them resist any form

of mental health services. You know, the black population has at the back of their mind this notion of Is it because I am black? As providers, we need to understand that there is a distrust among African American patients with mental health problems, which has nothing to do with the providers but rather a generational conception.

In addition, SW10 shared:

One of the issues I have faced in getting African American patients mental health care is that some refuse to participate in mental health treatment. For instance, an African American patient was brought in for mental health issues. However, anytime the psych team and therapist visited his room to conduct an assessment, he would resist and refuse to provide them with vital information to help his treatment plan. In such a case, the patient may be discharged without adequate mental health care.

Theme 2: Cultural Incompetence

Sixty percent of participants identified issues relating to cultural incompetence as some of the cultural problems they encounter while providing mental health care services to African Americans in hospital settings. Based on these findings, cultural incompetence is the failure of healthcare providers to acknowledge diversity in culture during practice with African American patients. Healthcare providers' display of cultural incompetence during practice with African Americans emerged as a theme following participants' responses relating to IQ3. Sixty percent of the participants illustrated their experiences that multiple providers lack the knowledge to recognize and understand the role culture

plays in providing mental health care to African American patients. The participants specifically identified providers who are not associated with African American cultures as the ones who display more difficulties in providing adequate care to African American patients with mental health problems. One of the participants noted that providers who lack good knowledge of the African American culture fail to understand that aspect of African American culture and its influence on the intervention outcome with African American patients. Another participant reported that some providers have preconceived negative notions about African American patients, like this patient is just crazy, is difficult, or does not want to seek treatment or talk to me.

Moreover, the reality is that these patients want to deal with providers who can share their feelings and understand their problems, which may be culturally motivated. When asked questions on how their knowledge of the African American cultural group influenced their practice with them in hospital settings, SW 1 highlighted the preference of African American patients with mental health problems working with providers of a similar race.

SW 1 shared:

During my over 30 years of experience providing mental health services to

African American patients, I feel like some of the providers, especially those who

are not associated with African American cultures, lack the knowledge to

recognize and understand the role culture plays in providing mental health care to

African American patients. This lack of cultural knowledge about African

American patients often results in misdiagnoses and undertreatment of their

mental health problems. I believe hospitals must learn how to attract, retain, and promote highly motivated, skilled providers who can identify issues with patients notwithstanding their cultural background. SW 5 Shared: One of the challenges I face is that it has not been easy for me to understand the African American culture through only education and stories from patients with African heritage. Most of my knowledge and experience of African American culture comes through the media. As a Korean of Asian descent, it is more difficult for me to provide mental health care to the African population, considering their solid cultural orientation. Notwithstanding the number of experiences, I have gained growing up in America or a Western nation with the African American population, I firmly believe there are gaps in my knowledge of the African American culture, which impacted my engagement with them. There are some struggles the population faces, especially those with mental health services, that I honestly will not understand. I can read about it, understand the statistics, and know the sources of these problems, but I still struggle to provide culturally competent service to them during hospitalization.

SW 7 stated:

We have providers who need help understanding what the African American culture sometimes means. Such providers struggle to provide adequate mental health services to the African American population in hospital settings. As providers, it is significant to understand some African American challenges and barriers to receiving mental health care. That comes with one understanding of the

African American culture, their historical context, not just culture, but the historical context of what they have experienced or their level of healthcare knowledge, which is often limited. I always do my best to educate some providers with limited knowledge of the African American culture about the population's culture. For instance, "the way they talk may be intimidating and aggressive because of their accent, and people may assume they are aggressive". I try to be mindful of their choice of language by not expecting them to use formal language because that is different from who they are.

SW 8 Shared:

Some doctors often use jargon that patients do not understand during engagement with patients. Doctors can unintentionally use unfamiliar words to their patients without realizing the meaning is not straightforward, especially with African American patients with low health literacy. In my opinion, Doctors should first establish what the patient knows and understands before launching into a discussion that begins at a level either too complex or too simple for the patient. Some Doctors need to pay more attention to the importance of speaking slowly, avoiding jargon, and repeating significant points to help improve patients' understanding, especially during engagement with patients with low health literacy. Responding to interview question 1: How would you describe the challenges you face in providing culturally competent mental health care to African Americans in a hospital setting? SW 9 Shared: I have often experienced when some professionals or doctors speak medical terminology without breaking

it down for patients to understand. So, when engaging with patients without advanced education, you must break it down to the level of a third-grader or level of high school graduate. I believe it is a lack of awareness of the use of culturally competent practice with patients by some providers. I have spent time educating the providers, especially on the cultural values of the African American population. They do not understand that aspect of culture and its influence on the intervention outcome with African American patients. Some providers have preconceived notions about African American patients, like this patient is just crazy, is difficult, or does not want to talk to me. Moreover, the reality is that these patients want to deal with providers who can share their feelings and understand their problems, which may be culturally motivated. With my vast experience providing mental health services to African American patients, I can easily state that this population prefers working with providers of a similar race. SW 10 Shared:

I work well with African American patients, including those with mental health problems. Moreover, sometimes, it helps to understand the African American culture when working with the population. When they see another African American provider assigned to them, it makes a difference. Sometimes, they feel like, okay, this person will help me more. They feel like, as an African American, I can relate to them a little more, making them disclose things that they might not disclose to another provider from a different ethnicity or culture. The African American population, just like any other cultural group, often feels more

comfortable with providers with whom they share a similar cultural background. This is different when they are assigned providers who they believe do not share their values. Such a situation often leads to their resistance towards mental health service, inappropriate care transition, and inadequate patient adherence to provider recommendations and follow-ups after discharge.

Theme 3: Cultural Diversity in Healthcare

About twenty percent of the participants (20%) identified issues relating to cultural diversity in healthcare as part of the cultural problems they encounter while providing mental healthcare services to African Americans in hospital settings. Based on the participants' comments, cultural diversity in the healthcare system is the existence of various cultural or ethnic groups within the hospital settings. Issues relating to cultural diversity in healthcare emerged as a theme based on participants' responses to interview question number 1: When asked to describe the challenges they face in providing culturally competent mental health care to African Americans in hospital settings? SW4 responded, "I believe that negative stereotypes often create a problem integrating multicultural teams. "During team meetings, I have experienced instances where providers with multicultural background struggle to adopt specific intervention approach that is more culturally oriented to favor an African American patient with mental health problems. During my years of experience providing mental health services to the African American population in hospital settings, I can categorically state that the providers who are part of the minority group, especially those from African American, are limited in numbers. In such cases, patients from the African American population are often assigned providers who are Caucasians with limited knowledge of the impact of the African American way of life on their mental health care.

SW 9 Shared:

I have encountered situations where a lack of effective communication with providers hindered my ability to provide adequate mental health services to my American patients during hospitalization. I think the problems are more pronounced when there are minimal providers of color. Professional communication is often misinterpreted or complex to understand when working with other providers with different languages and cultural backgrounds. For instance, team meetings are a crucial part of intervention for patients with mental health problems; any breach of communication during team meetings can result in poor discharge planning and overall patient recovery outcomes. Sometimes, I feel less satisfied with each team member's motives and ineffective communication when team members emerge from different cultures. This attribute hinders the quality of services often provided to African American patients with mental health problems.

Theme 4: Inadequate Hospital Programs.

Ten percent of the participants (10%) identified inadequate hospital programs as an issue that hinders social workers' efforts to provide culturally competent mental health services to African Americans in hospital settings. One of the participants described her experiences with working in hospitals that lack an adequate culturally motivated workforce that supports the provision of culturally competent practice to diverse

populations, including the African American population. When asked to describe the challenges social workers face in providing culturally competent mental health care to African Americans in a hospital setting, SW 1 further responded that successful implementation of a culturally competent workforce requires an organizational commitment to building a system that will encourage providers and healthcare professionals to work effectively in cross-cultural situations. Working in a hospital environment with programs to support culturally competent practice with a diverse patient population makes much difference. "I have worked with some hospitals that lacked adequate resources and programs supporting culturally competent practice with minority groups". In some cases, I had to engage in private training to keep myself abreast of new ideas or recommendations for servicing the mental health status of some patients with diverse backgrounds. I stay educated to improve my cultural awareness during practice with patients from multicultural backgrounds.

Table 10Summary of Themes Report for RQ2

Themes for RQ2

111011100 101 11 4-			
(Theme 1) Effective communication	SW 1, 3, 7, 8, 10	5	50%
(Theme 2) Comprehensive assessment	SW 1, 3, 4, 7	4	40%
(Theme 3) Patient resilience	SW 6, 7, 9, 10	4	40%
(Theme 4) Positive discharge outcome	SW 1, 2, 6	3	30%
(Theme 5) Patient focused intervention.	SW 5	1	10%

Theme 1: Effective Communication

The first theme that emerged from the data relating to research question two was effective communication. Fifty percent of the participants (50%) identified effective communication as a benefit of providing culturally competent treatment to African American patients in hospital settings. In the context of these findings, effective communication is the interaction between two or more individuals to convey, receive, and comprehend the relevant message. Fifty percent of the participants believed that effective communication between healthcare providers and African American patients with mental health problems often produce positive outcome. Effective communication emerged as a theme across most interview questions but reflected more frequently following participants' responses to interview question number 4: How has your knowledge of this cultural group influenced your practice with them in hospital settings? Five of the participants believed that their vast experience providing mental health services to the African American population in hospital settings has helped each of them improve their communication with them during practice.

SW 1 shared:

"My knowledge of African American values, beliefs, and background has allowed me to communicate better and build strong working relationships, which has helped improve their health outcomes." I can communicate effectively and relate with African American patients since I know their historical challenges and what they may be experiencing. Moreover, I also have success with this population because I understand some factors that may hinder their access to mental health

care. Because I can communicate with them more effectively, I can provide support and community resources that will assist them with improving their mental health care. When asked a similar question on how their knowledge of the African American culture has influenced their practice with them in hospital settings, SW 3 related her experience with her African American family member with a history of mental health problems.

SW 3 responded:

"My experience is with my family and mother, who is an African American with a history of mental health problems, specifically schizoaffective and depressive disorders." She has siblings who do not understand her condition but will belittle her and make her sad. They ignore her call for help and display bad behavior towards her. "They are very callous to her and even call her crazy." Because I am a social worker and have knowledge of the stigma faced by the African American population with mental health problems, I communicate better with my mother, treat her with the utmost care, and assist her with navigating her mental health struggles. It is not just about my mother and her struggles with her family's lack of understanding of her mental health; I believe it is a common experience with African American patients. A provider who can relate to a patient's cultural values can communicate better with the patient during engagement and intervention. SW 7 illustrated how essential it is to spend time trying to listen to the patients to understand their challenges and family dynamics and identify the best way to help them.

SW 7 further narrated that:

"My knowledge of the African American population has helped me improve my communication skills with them during the intervention." People's views, political and social interests, and cultural backgrounds affect how they react to things and their overall behavior. Because I understand these values and how they may impact African American patients' views towards mental health services, I can effectively communicate with them and obtain in-depth information that will assist in their mental health treatment.

When the participants were asked about how they overcome challenges in providing services to African American patients,

SW 8 said:

"Because I have a good knowledge of the African American culture, I have developed a specific skill set for interacting and building good rapport with them during intervention in hospital settings". I stay motivated, knowing too well that I will walk into this patient's room and use my skills to communicate and motivate them to be more receptive to the information and resources provided. Because I am culturally familiar with the African American culture, I am often more open to their views and perspectives during communication with them. Educating myself on the experience of African American patients within their local community has influenced my ability to provide updated information that will help address their concerns and improve my communication with them during assessment.

SW 10 further stated:

"I have good knowledge of African American culture because I come from that cultural group. How we say things or express ourselves might differ from other cultures". My colleagues from different cultures have asked me on several occasions to explain to them the meaning of African American patients' comments or statements. The effect is that once patients feel that a provider does not understand their feelings, language, and way of life, they resist mental health services. Because I know the African American population, I have not had any significant communication issues with them. However, it would be different if I were working with patients from other populations or cultural backgrounds.

Theme 2: Comprehensive Assessment

The second theme that emerged from the data relating to research question two was comprehensive assessment. Forty percent of the participants (40%) identified attaining comprehensive assessment as a benefit of providing culturally competent treatment to African American patients in hospital settings. Based on the framework of these findings, a comprehensive assessment evaluates a patient's resources, strengths, and family support system that could be useful during treatment and discharge planning.

About forty percent of the participants identified their ability to conduct a comprehensive assessment of patient's mental health problems as a significant benefit of providing culturally competent treatment to African American patients during hospitalization. The participants also concluded that their vast knowledge of the African American culture contributed to their ability to treat them with so much respect and dignity and effectively provide mental health services to them, which led to improved mental health outcomes.

When asked to describe their most recent experience on how culture influenced the outcome of their intervention with an African American client in hospital settings and how they could incorporate a culturally competent practice into their work when providing mental health care to African American patients,

SW 1 shared:

"Based on my knowledge of the African American culture and their usual resistance to mental health care, I treat them with so much respect and dignity."

By respecting their feelings and the meaning they attach to mental health, I can engage with them and conduct an in-depth assessment that helps me, and other treatment teams objectively identify the unique needs and concerns of the patients and identify any potential barriers to care that may affect compliance and outcome following discharge. The participants noted that their awareness of the values and morals of the culture of the African American population is often significant and valuable and helps them conduct in-depth assessments to understand factors that may hinder African American patients' access to mental health care. SW I also stated that by "engaging with the patient and the patient's family, I can gain in-depth knowledge of the patient's living condition, history of mental health problems, psychosocial concerns, and socio-economic factors."

In response to the question, "How has your knowledge of this cultural group influenced your practice with them in hospital settings?"

SW 3 said:

"I am biracial and grew up in an American culture and black household; that is the family I identify with." Initially, it was like the black side of my family versus the white side. So, it is just how I grew up". My knowledge of the African American culture puts me in a position to effectively engage with them during assessment. By displaying empathy, respect, and understanding based on my awareness of the culture, I can extract in-depth information about African American patients presenting problems during assessment. My knowledge of the African American culture helps me conduct an assessment that establishes the patients' physical, psychological, social, and economic conditions, which will assist in developing the care plan.

When asked to explore how knowledge of the African American culture influenced their practice in hospital settings.

SW 4 feedback was that:

"My knowledge of the African American culture has helped me model how I interact and conduct assessments with them". For instance, asking about their family support system and knowing how important family plays in the lives of African American patients has helped me a lot to improve the outcome of my assessment and intervention with them while in the hospital. For instance, some of my patients have children and grandchildren, so asking them about their children, grandchildren, and sometimes about their community and religious leaders makes them feel comfortable and open up during assessment. I can weigh into their social and psychosocial well-being and ask relevant questions that will improve

the outcome of my assessment with them. I constantly reflect on my background and experiences as an African American, which influence my behavior and how I conduct assessments with African American patients.

SW 7 Shared:

When conducting practical assessments with African American patients with mental health problems, "I spend reasonable time listening to them to understand their challenges and family dynamics and to identify the best way to help them". Sometimes, respecting people's differences in identity gives you a fresh start and the ability to succeed with them during assessment. Because we have different equity views, political views, and backgrounds, which affect how we react to things and live our lives, I always take the time to listen to my patients and respect their views regarding their mental health and social problems. I also maintain a good rapport and adopt practical communication skills with them during assessments to improve the expected outcome. Because the goal of assessment is to obtain in-depth information about patients that will assist in their treatment and discharge plan, my knowledge of the African American Culture helps me understand the type of questions to ask to maintain the respect and trust of patients.

Theme 3: Patient Resilience

The third theme that emerged from the data relating to research question two was patient resilience. Forty percent of the participants (40%) identified improved patient resilience as a benefit of providing culturally competent treatment to African American

patients in hospital settings. Based on these findings, participants believed the use of culturally oriented intervention with African American patients could successfully help them to adapt to complex or challenging life experiences through mental, emotional, and behavioral flexibility and adjustment to external and internal demands, especially with their mental health problems. The participants also reported that their vast knowledge of the African American culture contributed to their ability to effectively engage with them and help them build their resilience to overcome the stigma associated with mental health, especially within the African American community.

When asked to describe how their knowledge of the African American group influenced their practice with them in hospital settings, some of the participants responded that right now, we do not have as much diversity as we could in the healthcare system, which often creates an environment that makes minorities uncomfortable seeking services and healthcare.

SW 6 shared that "embracing diversity in the hospital system makes patients from diverse backgrounds, including African Americans, improve their resilience to seek mental health care and participate in improving their overall well-being". A patient receiving culturally competent intervention is more comfortable and willing to share their presenting problems, knowing they will be heard. When, as providers, we try to recognize the diversity of patients, it impacts patients' feelings of inclusion and belonging. Also, patients who communicate effectively with their treatment team may feel empowered to self-advocate for their needs.

They also develop trust in the healthcare system, which can improve their desire to continue to seek mental healthcare.

SW 7 stated:

It is essential to understand and listen to African American patients to explore why they have some of their challenges and barriers to receiving mental health care. I strive to empower and help them identify their needs by making them feel I understand their feelings and challenges and their level of healthcare knowledge, which is often limited. By educating them and respecting their right to self-determination, I assist them in building their level of resilience to participate in mental health care. In addition, SW 9 shared that "because I am always trying to speak with the African American patients with an open mind and connect with them, I make them feel empowered and willing to participate in their treatment and discharge planning." Unlike some professionals or doctors who speak in medical jargon, the participants believe it is more effective to break it down with patients to make sure they understand every aspect of their communication, especially with the uneducated ones. SW 9 further reported that "I think having more providers, not only providers who look like a patient but providers who are aware of their biases and are willing to accept different cultural values associated with minority groups, could make a whole lot of difference, especially with African American patients. In response to interview question five: How would you describe your most recent experience on how culture influenced the outcome of your intervention with an African American client in a hospital setting?

SW 10 said:

"I work well with the African American population. Sometimes, I think it helps to be African American when you are working with the patient, and they see another African American assigned to them as their provider". Under such a scenario, the patient quickly builds their resilience and confidence by developing feelings that the provider will relate to and help them. They feel more comfortable disclosing things to me as an African American provider that they might not disclose to providers from another ethnicity or culture. When patients realize their providers do not understand their language, feelings, and problems, they feel rejected, disvalued, and, in most cases, will lack the desire to accept mental health treatment.

Theme 4: Positive Discharge Outcome

Thirty percent of the participants (30%) identified improved discharge outcomes as a benefit of providing culturally competent treatment to African American patients in hospital settings. In the context of these findings, three participants reported that their advanced knowledge of the African American culture assisted them in improving patients' discharge outcomes by assisting patients in meeting their physical, social, and emotional needs based on what is important to them. In response to interview question 4: How has your knowledge of this cultural group influenced your practice with them in hospital settings? The participants believed that they were successful in assisting African American patients to obtain effective discharge outcomes because of their knowledge of some factors that may get in the way of receiving mental health care.

SW 1 reported that:

My knowledge of the African American culture has helped me reduce some biases that can lead to inaccurate diagnoses and treatment and increases the chances that patients will be more compliant with a medical recommendation to gain improved health outcome. Also, through an in-depth assessment of patients' problems, which I achieve through effective communication, I can provide African American patients with adequate resources that will help them improve the outcome of their mental health problems.

When participants were asked to provide examples of situations where they experienced challenges providing mental health services to African American patients and to explain how they overcame and resolved such challenges,

SW 2 narrated an encounter with an African American female who presented to the hospital for an untreated mental health problem. SW 2 stated, "I had an African American female patient who presented to the hospital with many mental health problems and was readmitted. She comes to the hospital quite often, and everybody knows her. Her most recent admission a couple of months ago was marked by her aggressive and threatening behavior, which led to poor discharge and mental health outcomes. In this current hospitalization, the patient resisted engaging in any treatment. When I was assigned to complete her initial assessment, I was pre-warned about her aggressive behavior. So, I went in there to see her, and because I reviewed her chart and history, I realized we both came from the same community. I respectfully spoke to her and shared a little story about our community. "I said, you have been cutting up," and she started laughing

because she knows what cutting up means. "I said I hope nothing will start flying across this room, and she laughed hard." She was immediately calm and pleasant and provided me with in-depth information that assisted the treatment team in developing her treatment plan and discharge planning. The patient was successfully treated and discharged to a group home, which impacted her mental health outcome.

When asked a similar question, SW 6 shared:

"I believe in equality and the need for providers to be culturally competent during practice with African American patients and patients from other minority groups". It is essential to recognize that certain cultural groups, like the African American population, need a small quantity of extra care or attention in health care because of the discrimination they face, especially in the healthcare system. She further narrated her motivation for providing mental health care to this group, which she related to include her ability to relate to African American patients and provide that extra care that can help them improve their mental health outcomes. All the participants reported that African Americans' denial of mental health treatment has inspired them to incorporate culturally motivated intervention strategies during engagement with them, which have undoubtedly resulted in their improved mental health outcomes.

Theme 5: Patient-Focused Intervention

Ten percent of the participants (10%) identified patient-focused intervention as a benefit of providing culturally competent treatment to African American patients in

hospital settings. The participant described patient-focused intervention as a method of providing care to patients that respects their preferences, needs, values, and knowledge of their right to self-determination. When asked to explore most recent experience on how culture influenced the outcome of intervention with an African American client in hospital settings,

SW 5 added,

"I am all about autonomy." I want all patients to make their own decisions if they have the correct information. I educate them on their right to make their own choices regarding mental health treatment and during discharge planning. "When patients know their input matters considerably during the assessment, it encourages active dialogues in which patients and providers can ask questions, correct misunderstandings, and build trust." Culturally competent practice embraces health equity through patient-centered care, which requires seeing each patient as unique. The participant emphasized that recognizing and listening attentively to patients' cultural values and beliefs during the assessment promotes culturally congruent and patient-centered intervention.

Table 11Summary of Themes Report for RQ3

Themes for RO3

Themes for 100			
(Theme 1) Family Engagement	SW 1, 2, 3, 4, 7	5	50%
(Theme 2) Respecting diversity	SW 2, 4, 7, 9, 10	5	50%
(Theme 3) Active listening	SW 4, 6, 7, 9	4	40%
(Theme 4) use of empathy	SW 1, 2, 3, 9	4	40%
(Theme 5) learning about biases and culture	SW 5, 6, 9	3	30%

Theme 1: Family Engagement

The first theme from the data relating to research question three was family engagement. Fifty percent of the participants (50%) identified family engagement as a strategy to incorporate cultural competence into their work when providing mental health care to African Americans in hospital settings. The participants recounted that family engagement with African American patients are significant in developing their treatment and discharge planning because patients' family impact their physical and emotional, social-economic, and overall mental health well-being. Five participants believed family engagement with African American patients could lead to positive discharge. Family engagement emerged as a significant theme resulting from most of the interview questions but reflected more frequently following participants' responses to interview question number 6: How do you incorporate a culturally competent practice into your work when providing mental health care to African American patients? Some of the participants illustrated with examples of how they can incorporate culturally competent practice during intervention with African American patients with mental health problems. Participants SW1, SW2, SW 3, SW 4, and SW 7 all believed that their vast knowledge of the African American culture has influenced their decision to uphold family engagement while providing mental health services to African American patients.

SW 1 illustrated a most recent experience with an African American female patient who resisted receiving mental health care.

SW 1 shared having an encounter with an African American patient who declined to provide reliable information about her mental health struggles and other social problems during the assessment. "Based on my vast knowledge of the African American culture and family's role in their lives, I requested a county investigation to contact the patient's family". "I got hold of the patient's sisters and cousins, who were willing to assist in her treatment and discharge planning. They provided information about her living condition, presenting problems, and the care that she is receiving at home. The patient was hospitalized, and with the in-depth knowledge gained from her family members, I was able to provide a safe and effective discharge plan for the patient".

SW 2, shared:

"During assessments with African American patients, especially those with mental health problems, I always seek their consent to engage their families in their discharge planning." One cannot over-emphasize the importance of family assistance in helping African American patients with mental health problems in their quest to manage their mental health diagnoses, including social needs. SW 2 also demonstrated an instance with a young African American female who presented to the hospital with severe mental health. "The patient refused to take medication and comply with any form of mental health treatment. "The good thing is that she did give me permission to call and communicate with her mother about her care. With her mother's support, the patient complied with the treatment

team. I provided her with resources and ensured she had access to the resources provided to her".

SW 3 responded that:

"One can quickly put all the responsibility on the government to provide resources, support, and policies to promote mental health care among the African American community. However, I think patients' family dynamics have a solid role in the treatment plan for African American patients, especially those with mental health problems". SW 3 further stated that a family system willing to accept the importance of mental healthcare would go a long way to assist another family member in overcoming the challenges associated with mental health problems. From my experience, African American patients with mental health problems feel more comfortable opening up about themselves when their family members are involved in their treatment plan and discharge planning. During family meetings or visiting periods, most patients present as being happy and pleasant and become emotional and tearful when their family leaves after visiting hours.

SW 4 stated that:

"I incorporate culturally competent mental health practice during practice with African American patients by being aware of how I communicate with them using descent language, simple English, and affirmation. "All five participants who contributed to the development of this theme declared that how you interact with African American patients with mental health problems can influence how they

respond to you. SW 4 stated, "I ask them about their family support system, demographics, socio-economic factors, and past hospital visits". The participants revealed that by incorporating a patient's family dynamic, they can obtain information revealing the origin of a patient's problems related to their poor mental health. Based on the information obtained, they can provide patients with adequate mental health services that will assist them in getting back to their baseline.

SW 7 said:

"During assessments with African American patients, I always ask questions about their family dynamics, which I believe are critical in providing them with adequate mental health care." I had this patient, an African American male who presented to the hospital with a history of schizophrenia and bipolar. During my engagement with him, he was visibly nervous and scared". The patient reported that he was rejected and thrown out by his family after he threatened to stab their elderly aunt. Based on my vast knowledge of mental health practice with African patients, it was easier for me to process the situation and realize how important it is to involve his family in his treatment and discharge planning. I called the patient's family with his permission and educated them on the usefulness of family support for individuals with severe mental health problems. The patient's family illustrated their concern with the patient's non-adherence to his medication regimen. All parties agreed that the patient should be discharged to a group home to assist him with housing, medication management, and daily care.

Theme 2: Respecting diversity.

The second theme from the data relating to research question three was respecting diversity. Fifty percent of the participants (50%) identified respecting diversity as a strategy they use to incorporate cultural competence into their work when providing mental health care to African Americans in hospital settings. Five participants believed respecting diversity in the healthcare system could lead to a favorable mental health treatment and discharge outcome for the African American population. Respecting diversity also emerged as a significant theme resulting from the interview questions but reflected more frequently following participants' responses to interview question number 6: How do you incorporate a culturally competent practice into your work when providing mental health care to African American patients? Participants SW2, SW4, SW 7, SW 9, and SW 10 all believed their vast knowledge of the African American culture has influenced their ability to practice with patients from culturally diverse backgrounds effectively.

SW 2 Shared:

"During practice with patients from culturally diverse backgrounds, I put in more effort to explain their diagnoses and treatment plans to them to ensure they understand". I listen attentively to their concerns and educate them where necessary to ensure patients and their families understand the medical issue and options for treatment. This African-American woman presented to the EC under police warrant for untreated mental health problems resulting in aggressive behavior. When I went to complete her psychosocial assessment, she was

delighted because I listened to her concerns and respected her views about her mental health struggles. She gave me no problem. I mean, it was just a different outcome. I had the opportunity to explain to her how serious her mental illness was affecting her overall quality of life. However, as I spoke to her, I often reminded her of her right to autonomy, knowing too well that she has a history of negative perceptions about mental health treatment. She felt okay with that and cried about it, and I thought she probably just needed somebody who looked like her and respected her cultural diversity to share her feelings with.

SW 4 Shared:

My knowledge of the African American culture has helped me model how I interact and conduct my assessment with them. To display my knowledge of the African population, I recognize and appreciate diversity as essential to patient-centered care. In doing so, I can respect and assist patients in developing a safe discharge plan and achieving better patient outcomes. I treat every patient fairly, transparently, and without discrimination based on their cultural background. I want the patient to feel that they are treated as equals and accorded the dignity and respect they deserve, notwithstanding their diversity.

SW 7 Shared:

I incorporate culture into my practice with African American patients by considering each patient's values and goals and helping them achieve them. I stay focused, identify, communicate with, and better serve their needs. I create an environment that fosters inclusiveness in every area possible and allows my

patients to share their feelings and ideas regarding their treatment and discharge planning without discrimination. I use my knowledge of their culture to educate and relate to them better, be non-judgmental, and avoid stereotyping them.

I always work with African American patients with an open mind, and I try to meet every patient at the point of their needs and level of understanding about mental healthcare. So, being open-minded, willing, and able to learn helps me practice effectively with the African American population. I am reasonably sensitive to them by appreciating their cultural expectation, which defines their willingness to accept mental health care. My knowledge of the African American culture improves my awareness to reinforce the primary goal of diversity skills to help each patient feel respected, valued, and treated fairly. When asked to describe what could be done to improve mental health care for the African American population during hospitalization, SW 9 stated, "I strive to promote an inclusive work environment to strengthen my patient's sense of belonging and purpose related to their goals." When asked a similar question,

SW 10 responded:

SW 9 Shared:

I ask my patients questions to carefully understand them regarding their presenting problems and avoid making assumptions based on cultural stereotypes. Depending on their literacy level, I meet the patients where they are and spend more time explaining things to them. For those with low levels of health literacy, I might have to change how I speak to them. Especially in hospital settings, it

becomes overwhelming for patients to deal with providers from different cultural backgrounds. So, as a provider, one must meet the patient where they are culturally. So, if you want to meet the person where they are, ask them if they are clear on the plan or need more explanation.

Theme 3: Active Listening

Forty percent of the participants (40%) identified active listening as a strategy to incorporate cultural competence into their practice when providing mental health care to African Americans in hospital settings. The participants believed active listening involves listening attentively to patients during practice, understanding their needs and feelings, and responding to them positively. Active listening emerged as a significant theme and was reflected more frequently when participants were asked to answer interview question 6: How do you incorporate a culturally competent practice into your work when providing mental health care to African American patients? All four participants believed that their vast knowledge of the African American culture influenced their ability to understand the importance of listening attentively to African American patients during engagement with them. The participants specifically reported that during visits with African American patients with mental health problems, they listen attentively to the patients with an open mind to acknowledge where they are and their challenges and determine how they can help them.

SW 4 Shared:

I involve them in establishing their plan and goals. Whatever the case is, I go with what the patient wants, as far as I can relate to that person on their level. By

listening to and respecting their feelings about their presenting problems, I can understand the origin of their problems as they relate to their poor mental and physical health, and based on the outcome, I can provide services that will get them to the next level of care. When you listen to the patients, they feel you are fully engaged and value what they are saying. Similarly, to the response from SW4, SW 6 Shared: "I display good listening skills and openness to overcome the challenges of providing mental health care to African American patients with a shared history of resisting mental health services. "The idea is to recognize how their background, culture, and socioeconomic factors affect their ability to seek mental health care. I have worked with several African American patients with mental health problems who distrust the healthcare system. You know, that feeling that the providers do not care about them. In such situations, paying attention to the patient's emotional expression and explosion puts me in a better position to identify various options of intervention strategies that will improve the patient's mental health outcome.

SW 7 Shared:

My vast knowledge of the African American culture helps me establish a rapport quickly with them during engagement and assessment of their mental health problems. I try to listen, acknowledge, and talk to them to understand and identify how to address their problems. Sometimes, all it takes is to listen to them and create an impression that you care and are willing to help them with their mental health struggles. I had another patient, an African American female with a history

of schizophrenia, who presented to the hospital for medication noncompliance. During the assessment, she asked me if I was interested in listening to her story, and I said yes and paid good attention to her. She talked about her book that was published. She was excited that I could listen to her story, which made a difference. We engaged her in in-depth assessment and developed an effective treatment and discharge plan suitable for her needs.

SW 9 stated that being open-minded, willing, and able to learn are practical, culturally competent measures that can help during practice with the African American population. During engagement with African American patients, I use responsive, positive facial expressions, reasonable eye contact, and body movements during interaction with all my patients, including African Americans and other minority groups. I ask patients for clarification and follow-up questions to ensure that the patient has received the right message. I also provide affirmations to improve patients' confidence and trust in mental health care.

Theme 4: Use of Empathy

The fourth theme that emerged from the data relating to research question three was the use of empathy. Forty percent of the participants (40%) identified using empathy as a means to incorporate cultural competence into their practice when providing mental health care to African Americans in hospital settings. SW1, SW2, SW3, and SW9 in their responses to interview questions 6: How do you incorporate a culturally competent practice into your work when providing mental health care to African American patients? And interview question 8: In your opinion, what do you think can be done to improve

mental health care for the African American population during hospitalization? Described the use of empathy as their ability to understand and relate to the feelings of African American patients with mental health problems. SW 1 Shared: "I try to engage with African American patients in a way that makes them feel like I am genuinely interested and willing to help them. "When asked to identify ways to improve mental health care for the African American population during hospitalization,

SW 1 said:

"I would say that I know how to probe without being offensive". Thus, learning how to communicate and use those engagement skills is significant. I am very comfortable conducting assessments with African American patients because I have over 30 years of experience providing mental health services to them in community and hospital settings. One of my supervisors once told me you conduct good assessments because you can bring so much information about a patient on your first visit. I pay good attention to the patient's concerns and feelings.

SW 2 Shared:

I am a social worker, true to the heart, and I know that African American people, black folks, do not believe in mental health. They shut it down, whereas the white population is known to seek mental health services. For instance, you will have a white man with antisocial personality disorder who will be admitted to a mental health hospital for a couple of weeks. I have never seen a black folks present to the hospital for such a diagnosis. So, whenever I am assigned to African

American patients, I am very motivated to see how I can educate and provide services to them on issues relating to mental healthcare and how it impacts their daily lives. I try to put myself in their shoes, exercise patiently with them, and be non-judgmental. I am very motivated to support the African American population with mental health problems during hospitalization, knowing their poor perception and reception when seeking mental health care.

SW 3 Stated:

I am biracial but grew up in an American culture and married to a black household. So, my background encourages me to expand my knowledge of the African American culture. I could say I am in a reasonable position where I am more empathetic and understanding during engagement with African American patients with mental health problems. With my level of awareness regarding the African American culture, I am more empathetic and understanding when they resist receiving mental health services during hospitalization. I am more conscientious and willing to give patients more time to understand the need to accept mental health services. SW 9 emphasized that many African American patients resist any form of mental health service because they believe they are not crazy. To rectify this setback, SW 9 shared: "In such situations, I show them empathy, make more effort to relate to them, and make them understand that I am here to look for ways to help them manage their mental health struggles." I am always working with them with an open mind and avoiding stereotypes". I show them compassion and encourage open communication to allow the patients to

share their feelings and participate in discharge planning. I try to prioritize using empathy and modeling desired behavior to the patients during psychosocial assessment and group therapy.

Theme 5: Awareness of Biases

The fifth theme that emerged from the data relating to research question three was Awareness of biases. Thirty percent of the participants (30%) identified Awareness of biases as strategies to incorporate cultural competence into their practice when providing mental health care to African Americans in hospital settings. Awareness of biases emerged from participants' responses to interview question 6: How do you incorporate a culturally competent practice into your work when providing mental health care to African American patients? The participants reported that their willingness to pay attention to their feelings and beliefs was an excellent strategy for incorporating culturally competent practice with African American patients. By recognizing their feelings towards African American patients, the participants can be more considerate and inclusive during practice with African American patients with mental health problems. In addition to these findings, SW 5 further Shared: "Personally speaking, as a Korean, most of my knowledge and experience of African American culture is from education and through social media." I share different cultural values with my assigned African American patients. However, as a professional, I ensure respect and equity by identifying my blind spot and actively eliminating any stereotypes and attitudes that could affect my communication with them, especially those with mental health problems. I avoid making assumptions about patients based on race, which is why assessments are essential. I focus

on getting information about patients based on their characteristics and presenting problems, avoiding affiliating them to any cultural group.

SW 6 Shared: While engaging with African American patients with mental health problems, I recognized that each patient is unique, with a different mindset and perspective towards mental health care. I try to deploy my knowledge of the African American culture by recognizing how their background, religion, and family background can impact their behavior and decision towards receiving mental health services. I am often conscious of my biases because I have a different cultural background from the African American patients. I am open to recognizing their differences in reasoning and belief, making them feel more comfortable, making their choices based on the options provided to them. I also perform self-reflection to address issues regarding power imbalances common in clinician-patient relationships, which may arise during patient engagement.

SW 9 Shared:

I interact with African American patients with an open mind, non-judgmental, and avoid generalizing their situation based on their cultural group. So, just being open-minded, being willing and able to learn and cut out a challenging game always helps me during practice with the African American population. I feel there is a distrust among African American patients towards receiving mental health services, which I believe is more of a generational problem. Some African American patients feel mistreated, untrusted, and denied access to quality mental healthcare. For instance, we as providers can not perceive African American

patients as someone who is just trying to exploit the system but should be more empathetic, understanding, culturally aware, politically aware, and sensitive in providing mental health services to them.

Theme 6: Recognizing Spirituality

Ten percent of the participants (10%) identified recognizing spirituality as a method of incorporating cultural competence into their practice when providing mental health care to African Americans in hospital settings. SW 6 illustrated the significance of recognizing and respecting patients' religion, spirituality, cultural background, and feelings toward their presenting problems. SW 6 also shared "that based on my knowledge of the African American culture, I would say that religion and spirituality play a significant role in their lives." For instance, I had this experience with an African American female patient who presented to the hospital with auditory and disorganized speech symptoms. The patient was very resistant to any form of treatment or intervention. During the patient's assessment, "I asked if there was anything I could do to help her, and she requested that I call her pastor." We called her pastor, who prayed and encouraged her to cooperate with the treatment team." The patient, after that, was calm and pleasant and participated in her treatment plan.

Interpretation of Findings

This section describes the findings based on peer-reviewed articles, journals, and books used in this research study. The literature review provided the context for understanding the challenges faced by social workers in providing culturally competent mental health practice to the African American population in hospital settings. Healthcare

hospital systems require culturally competent practice to meet the standards of providing crucial components of high-quality healthcare delivery that will benefit the African American population and other multicultural groups. The findings of this study were interpreted based on each of the research questions used in this study.

RQ1

Theme 1: Denial of Mental Health Services

The first theme from my study based on the first research question was that social workers considered African American patients' constant denial of mental health services as a significant cultural issue they encounter while providing mental health services to African Americans in hospital settings. My study revealed that African American patients often find it difficult to admit that they have mental health problems. With this mindset, they decline to seek mental health care, making it challenging for social workers to engage with them in hospital settings. This study shows that African American patients are skeptical about calling it a mental health problem but would rather call it just being a little crazy. With such a mindset and resistance, educating them about the importance of seeking mental health care and following up with preventive care is challenging. Based on the literature, the African American population has a unique perception of mental health services, influencing their willingness to seek help during mental health crises (Moss & Crewe, 2020). Their suspicion is well-founded, considering Black American patients frequently experience institutional oppression through racial discrimination, cultural misinterpretations, and incorrect diagnoses when seeking care from a profession dominated by white American clinicians (Stare & Fernando, 2019).

This study also showed that African American patients' resistance to mental health services is associated with their cultural belief that has been in existence from their forefathers who were subjected to all kinds of discrimination. They normalize mental health with the belief that they have the natural ability to withstand mental health-related problems. From Existing literature, African American resistance to mental health care may have resulted from the historical reality that African Americans' mental health had been abused and their mental health treatment administered with a liberal dose of discrimination and lack of respect for their cultural values (Connell et al., 2019). As a result of a decline in trust in mental health services and caregivers, a lack of culturally validating therapies has led to higher rates of resistance by the American population (Novacek et al., 2020).

Theme 2: Cultural Incompetence

This study revealed that social workers perceive providers' cultural incompetence as cultural issues they encounter while providing mental health services to African Americans in a hospital setting. The study reveals that some providers, especially those who are not associated with African American cultures, lack the knowledge to recognize and understand the role culture plays in providing mental health care to African American patients. This lack of cultural knowledge about African American patients often results in misdiagnoses and undertreatment of their mental health problems (Kim et al., 2020). Existing literature indicates that because there is limited cultural awareness and practices from providers, service delivery to African American patients' needs to be improved and transformed from professionally underutilized to culturally responsive care

(Novacek et al., 2020). As a result of a decline in trust in mental health services and caregivers, a lack of culturally competent services has contributed to higher rates of resistance shown by the African American population towards mental health care (Novacek et al., 2020).

I found out that social workers and providers who share different cultural backgrounds with African American patients struggle to provide a culturally competent mental health practice to them in hospital settings. Most of them depend on education, social media as means of building their knowledge of the African American culture which they described as insufficient. Also, social workers with diverse background who grew up in the United States, notwithstanding the number of experiences they have gained familiarizing with the African American population, still believe there are gaps in their knowledge of the African American culture, which may have impacted their practice with them.

The outcome of this study also shows that providers may unintentionally use words that are unfamiliar to their patients without realizing that the meaning is not straightforward especially during intervention with African American patients with low levels of health literacy. The result of this study indicates that some Doctors also undermine the importance of speaking slowly, avoiding jargon, and repeating significant points to help improve patients' understanding, especially during engagement with patients with low levels of health literacy. To offer equitable, high-quality patient outcomes that benefit both patients and hospitals, removing cultural barriers can enhance patient-provider communication and patient care experiences (Sciaffing et al., 2020).

Experts advise improving patient-provider interaction, such as increasing the provider's understanding of personal and cultural biases and views, the provider's response to patient cultural needs, and trust-building (Adebayo et al., 2020).

Theme 3: Cultural Diversity in Healthcare

This study identified cultural diversity in healthcare as part of the cultural problems faced by social workers while providing mental health services to African Americans in hospital settings. Providers with multicultural background struggle to adopt specific intervention approach that is more culturally oriented to favor an African American patient with mental health problems. I discovered that a provider's cultural orientation influences their approach during engagement with patients from multicultural backgrounds. Based on the literature, social workers may face the challenge of working in an interdisciplinary team in which other members do not understand the social worker's contributions to the treatment of patients (Krunkberg, 2019). This becomes a challenge to the social worker as he/she struggles to advocate for and educate the patient.

This study showed that social workers feel like professional communication, especially during team meetings, are often misinterpreted or complex to understand when working with other providers with different languages and cultural backgrounds. I found that because team meetings are a crucial part of intervention for patients with mental health problems, any breach of communication during team meetings can result in poor discharge planning and overall patient recovery outcomes. Krunkberg (2019) named stigma, the problem of communication, accessibility, and the challenge of working with diverse interdisciplinary teams as crucial issues facing mental health social workers.

Based on the outcome of this study, breach in communication between social workers and other providers is more pronounced in situations with very limited providers of color.

This study also discovered that social workers feel a sense of less satisfaction and less favorable attributions about each of the team members' motives, and ineffective communication when team members emerge from different cultures. This attribute hinders the quality of services often provided to African American patients with mental health problems. The dominant attitude is that doctors believe we are here to do medicine, not the soft stuff (Kerrigan et al., 2021). Finding ways to help social workers operate more effectively in teams can improve patient care (Zerden et al., 2019).

Theme 4: Inadequate Hospital Programs

This study's result reveal that inadequate hospital programs may have hindered social workers' effort in providing mental health services to African Americans in a hospital setting. The result shows that some hospitals lack adequate resources and programs that support culturally competent practice with minority groups. Such hospitals need more programs to monitor and improve culturally motivated patients and provider communication. The study result also shows that some socials workers resorted to private training and education to keep abreast of new ideas or recommendations for servicing the mental health status of some patients with diverse backgrounds. Based on the literature, the successful implementation of a culturally competent workforce requires an organizational commitment to building a system that will encourage providers and healthcare professionals to work effectively in cross-cultural situations (White et al., 2019). Working in a hospital environment with programs to support culturally competent

practice with diverse patient population makes a whole lot of difference (White et al., 2019). A commonly mentioned approach in workforce management and healthcare is creating a culturally compatible workforce that reflects the community being served (White et al., 2019). The commitment to fostering an inclusive work environment must start at the top with a clear articulation of the institution's vision, mission, and programs (Kersey-Matusiak, 2019).

RQ2

Theme 1: Effective Communication

The first theme from my study based on the second research question was that social workers identified effective communication as a benefit of providing culturally competent treatment to African American patients in hospital settings. I discovered that social workers who reported having vast knowledge of African American values, beliefs, and backgrounds could communicate effectively and build strong working relationships with African American patients, influencing patients' mental health outcomes. This study is consistent with previous literature, which revealed that culturally competent practice allows practitioners to establish effective interpersonal and working relationships correlated with perceptions of higher-quality care and more effective communication that supersede cultural differences (Rathoda et al., 2021).

According to the literature, increased workforce diversity has advantages, including better patient-provider communication, greater access to healthcare in underprivileged areas, and improved patient trust (Bonar, 2019). I discovered that social workers who reported having in-depth knowledge of African American patients with

mental health problems could interact with them and identify required information, community resources, and support to improve their mental health care. Based on the study, social workers with good awareness of the African American culture displayed specific communication skills such as active listening, rapport development, staying motivated, and respecting patients' feelings, which are required to effectively provide mental health service to the African American patient (Kerrigan et al., 2021). This study revealed that providers who were culturally competent with the African American culture were more open to their views and perspectives during communication. Previous literature indicates that, for therapeutic relationships to be successful, patients with mental health issues must feel at ease and understood by their mental health professionals in the hospital (Trinh et al., 2020).

Social workers with vast knowledge of the African American culture successfully engaged patients who displayed resistance toward mental health treatment and discharge planning (Trinh et al., 2020). The study discovered that providers who share limited knowledge of the African American culture and values struggled to understand their language style and to communicate effectively with them during mental health treatment. The effect is that once a patient feels that a provider does not understand their feelings, language, and way of life, they may resist mental health services (Trinh et al., 2020). On the contrary, patients will build confidence in their mental health professional's engagement if such a provider displays knowledge of the patient's culture and belief system (Trinh et al., 2020).

Theme 2: Comprehensive Assessment

This current study shows that, culturally competent social workers could effectively conduct comprehensive mental health assessments with African American patients. Based on the study, social workers who displayed empathy, respect, and understanding and their awareness of the African American culture were able to extract in-depth information about their patients regarding their physical, psychological, social, and economic problems during assessment. Patients are more inclined to divulge information about their health if they feel respected and understood by their healthcare professionals (Adebayo et al., 2020). Previous literature shows that the cultural competence principle attempts to untangle how African Americans interpret these experiences during assessment and bring it to bear on their attitude toward others and their mental health behavior (McGregor et al., 2019). This study established that social worker who asked African American patients questions regarding their family support system, knowing how vital family plays a role in their lives, successfully completed a practical assessment with them during hospitalization. For instance, social workers who asked African American patients questions about their children, family dynamics, community, and religious leaders made them feel comfortable and open up during the assessment.

Previous research indicates that respecting people's differences in their identity gives you a fresh start and the ability to be successful with them during assessment (Adebayo et al., 2020). Because patients have different equity views, political views, and backgrounds, which affect the way they react to things and live, healthcare providers

must take the time to listen to their patients and respect their views regarding their presenting mental health and social problems (Kelley et al., 2020). This study discovered that providers' knowledge of the African American culture has helped them identify and understand the type of questions to ask during patients' assessments to maintain their respect and trust and ability to retrieve vital information about their problems. The current study identified that respecting the feelings of an African American patient with mental health problems and the meaning they attach to mental health can help social workers objectively identify their unique needs and concerns and any potential barriers to care that may affect patients' compliance and outcome following discharge.

Theme 3: Patient Resilience

The current study shows that social workers recognized improved patient resilience as a benefit of providing culturally competent treatment to African American patients in hospital settings. This study showed that when providers make an effort to recognize the diversity of patients, it impacts patients' feelings of inclusion and belonging and resilience to seek mental health care. Based on the literature, providers' ability to embrace diversity in the hospital system makes patients from diverse backgrounds, including African Americans, improve their resilience to seek treatment and participate in improving their overall well-being (Schultz & Brindle, 2022).

I discovered in this study that social workers could assist African American patients in building their resilience by educating them, listening, being empathetic, and respecting their feelings and right to self-determination. This study is consistent with previous literature, which states that solid social support and culturally motivated intervention

from one's healthcare team have been positively associated with better patient health outcomes, resilience, and positive adjustment (Schultz & Brindle, 2022). In this current study, I found that African American patients feel more comfortable and more resilient when assigned social workers and providers with similar cultural backgrounds. Patients feel empowered and respected in such situations, knowing their right to self-determination will be respected (Schultz & Brindle, 2022). Furthermore, research on the impact of provider—patient interactions on health outcomes suggests that positive expectations from the provider and a warm and positive attitude are associated with increased patient satisfaction and well-being (Schultz & Brindle, 2022).

Theme 4: Positive Discharge of Outcome

In this study, social workers with good knowledge of African American culture reported reduced biases that can lead to inaccurate diagnoses and treatment. I also found that culturally competent social workers can conduct an in-depth assessment of patients' problems and provide African American patients with adequate resources that will help them improve their mental health outcomes following discharge from the hospital.

Culturally appropriate services include care delivered to patients that is sensitive to patient culture, religion, or other individual preferences (Schiaffino et al., 2020).

This study shows that it is essential for providers to recognize that certain cultural groups, like the African American population, need a small quantity of extra care or attention in mental health care because of the discrimination they face, especially in the healthcare system. Healthcare providers must be motivated and willing to provide a culturally competent mental health service to African American patients to improve their health

outcomes following discharge (Schiaffino et al., 2020). Based on existing literature, social and cultural barriers can lead to access barriers, medical errors, and misunderstandings between patients and providers (Schiaffino et al., 2020). Addressing cultural and linguistic barriers can improve patient-provider communication and patient experiences of care and help deliver equitable, high-quality patient discharge outcomes that benefit both patients and hospitals (Schiaffino et al., 2020).

Theme 5: Patient-Focused Intervention

The outcome of this study shows that social workers identified patient-focused intervention as a benefit of providing culturally competent treatment to African American patients in hospital settings. In this study, social workers who believed they were culturally competent embraced patients' autonomy and right to make their own decisions during treatment and discharge planning. These social workers prioritized educating patients and providing them with resources to build their resilience and make decisions regarding mental health treatment and discharge planning. This study is consistent with existing literature, which states that when patients know that their input matters a lot during the assessment, it encourages active dialogues in which patients and providers can ask questions, correct misunderstandings, and build trust (Rathoda et al., 2021; Alghanmi et al., 2022). The culturally competent practice embraces health equity through patientcentered care, which requires seeing each patient as unique (Rathoda et al., 2021; Alghanmi et al., 2022). Understanding patients' views, values, and preferences regarding their healthcare should be a crucial component of patient-centered treatment (Rathoda et al., 2021; Alghanmi et al., 2022). I also discovered that during assessment, recognizing

and listening attentively to patients' cultural values and beliefs promotes culturally congruent and patient-centered intervention.

RQ3

Theme 1: Family Engagement

The first theme from my study based on the third research question was that social workers identified family engagement as a strategy to incorporate cultural competence into their work when providing mental health care to African Americans in hospital settings. This study showed that social workers with vast knowledge of the African American culture understood the role family plays in the lives of African American patients during assessment, intervention, and discharge planning. This study is consistent with existing literature, which shows that African American culture, shared community values and experiences, family bonds, dimensions of their faith and spirituality, resiliency, key relationships, and pride serve as their source of strength and support (Johnson & Carter, 2020). This study revealed that social workers who involved patients' families in their treatment and discharge planning successfully achieved a positive outcome, especially with African American patients known to resist mental health treatment. Based on existing literature, culturally motivated patient care involves collaborating with patients and families at all levels of care and in healthcare settings and acknowledging that families are essential to patients' health and well-being (Adebayo et al., 2020). Social workers could display a culturally competent practice with African American patients by recognizing and promoting patient and family-centered care through information sharing, participation, and collaboration.

Based on the literature, engaging families in patient care offers a promising pathway toward better-quality healthcare, more efficient care, and improved population health (Cameron et al., 2022). I found that African American patients with mental health problems feel more comfortable accepting and open about their mental health problems when their family members are involved in their treatment and discharge planning, as evidenced during family meetings or visiting periods. The result also shows that social workers depended on collateral information from patients' families during the placement of patients to other care facilities following discharge from mental health hospital settings. Based on the literature, when the possibility of placing an African American patient with mental health problems outside the home is considered, it is recommended to include family in the decision-making process to preserve the African American culture as well as empower the patient and their families (Cameron et al., 2022).

Theme 2: Respecting Diversity

This study shows that social workers recognize diversity as a strategy to incorporate cultural competence into their work when providing mental health care to African Americans in hospital settings. This study shows that social workers incorporate culturally competent mental health practice with the African American population by modeling how they interact with them and appreciating diversity as an essential part of patient-centered care. This study is consistent with previous literature, which reveals that social workers and other providers can incorporate culture into their practice by treating patients fairly, transparently, and without discrimination based on their cultural background (Johnson & Carter, 2020). Their focus is to ensure that African American

patients are treated as equals and accorded the dignity and respect they deserve, notwithstanding their diversity (Johnson & Carter, 2020).

Based on the literature, being culturally competent involves creating an environment that fosters inclusiveness in every area possible and allows patients to share their feelings and ideas regarding their treatment and discharge planning without discrimination (Watson-Singleton et al., 2019). It involves working with patients from diverse cultures with an open mind, meeting each patient's needs as individuals, and understanding their mental healthcare (Watson-Singleton et al., 2019). According to Watson-Singleton et al. (2019), providing culturally tailored resources, using culturally familiar terminology, addressing religious concerns, and including African American practitioners are suitable cultural competence measures to improve healthcare disparities among African American populations. This study shows that social workers who reported in-depth knowledge of the African American culture improved their awareness to reinforce the primary goal of diversity skills that will help each patient feel respected, valued, and treated fairly. These social workers strive to promote an inclusive work environment to strengthen patients' sense of belonging and purpose related to their goals.

Based on the literature, providers can recognize diversity during practice with patients by taking the time to thoroughly explain medical terminologies and avoiding jargon and procedures to people from culturally diverse backgrounds (Rathoda et al., 2021). Culturally competent practice allows practitioners to establish effective interpersonal and working relationships that are correlated with perceptions of higher-quality care and more effective communication that supersede cultural differences

(Rathoda et al., 2021). I discovered that social workers could embrace culturally competent mental healthcare practice with African American patients by creating situations that can improve their mental health outcomes, increase patient satisfaction, and reduce overall frustration, stereotyping, and disbelief of mental healthcare. Based on the literature, a patient's prognosis often improves when mental health practitioners, including social workers, are aware of the significance of cultural differences in diagnosing a disorder and consider these considerations while providing care (Moreno & Chhatwal, 2020)}.

Mental healthcare for the African American population should be tailored to the individual, their identity, culture, and lived experience (Johnson & Carter, 2020). African American culture shared community values and experiences, dimensions of their faith and spirituality, resiliency, key relationships, family bonds, and pride serve as their source of strength and support (Johnson & Carter, 2020). According to Watson-Singleton et al. (2019), providing culturally tailored resources, using culturally familiar terminology, addressing religious concerns, and including African American practitioners are suitable cultural competence measures to improve healthcare disparities among African American populations. Culturally competent practice allows practitioners to establish effective interpersonal and working relationships that are correlated with perceptions of higher-quality care and more effective communication that supersede cultural differences (Rathoda et al., 2021). Approaches to social justice and diversity in social work practice and education have emphasized the importance of enhancing care

that is attentive to patients' cultural, religious, or other personal preferences (Sciaffing et al., 2020).

Theme 3: Active Listening

The findings of this study show that social workers identified active listening as a strategy to incorporate cultural competence into their practice when providing mental health care to African Americans in hospital settings. This study shows that social workers adopt culturally competent practice methods with African American patients by actively listening, being open-minded and responsive, using positive facial expressions, reasonable eye contact, and body movement during engagement. The study reveals that social workers perceive follow-up questions and affirmative and affirming statements as effective, culturally motivated strategies to ensure that the patient has received the right message and improved participation in mental health treatment. Based on the literature, listening implies more than just audio listening of words; it also focuses on comprehending the meaning of what is said (Wallace et al., 2021). When you listen to the patients, they feel you are fully engaged and value what they are saying (Kirst-Ashman & Hull, 2018)

The outcome of this research shows that social workers with good knowledge of African American patients recognized the importance of paying attention to patient's emotional expression and explosion, which can help them identify various options of intervention strategies that will improve the patient's mental health outcome. Sometimes, all it takes is to listen to patients and create an impression that you care and are willing to help them with their mental health struggles (Ricks & Brannon, 2023). Based on the

literature review, by listening to and respecting the feelings of African American patients with a mental health problem, providers can understand the origin of patient's problems as it relates to their poor mental and physical health, and based on the outcome, could provide services that will get them to their baseline (Karen Kay Kirst-Ashman & Grafton H Hull, Jr, 2018).

Theme 4: Use of Empathy

The outcome of this study shows that social workers considered use of empathy as a strategy to incorporate cultural competence into their practice when providing mental health care to African Americans in a hospital setting. This study shows that social workers display their knowledge of culturally competent mental health practice with African American patients by engaging them to make them feel like you are genuinely interested and willing to help them overcome their mental health challenges. Based on the literature, empathy involves being in tune with how a client feels and conveying to that patient that you understand how they feel (Karen Kay Kirst-Ashman & Grafton H Hull, Jr, 2018). It is acknowledging that you understand the client's situation (Karen Kay Kirst-Ashman & Grafton H Hull, Jr, 2018).

This study is consistent with existing literature, which states that providers can adopt culturally competent practices with patients by exercising patience, non-judgmental, and understanding during engagement with patients in hospital settings (Rathoda et al., 2021). Culturally competent practice recognizes the idea of displaying empathy and compassion in practice, a critical component of healthcare professionals' abilities (Rathoda et al., 2021). Based on the literature, empathy enables the worker to

establish an initial rapport with the patient and to keep up with the patient and their concerns throughout the worker-patient relationship (Karen Kay Kirst-Ashman & Grafton H Hull, Jr, 2018) This study shows that using empathy gives the social worker a means of getting at feelings that are not expressed verbally and makes confrontation less hostile, especially when providing mental health services to African Americans known to resist mental health treatment during hospitalization.

Theme 5: Awareness of Biases

Based on these research findings, social workers recognize awareness of biases as a strategy to incorporate cultural competence into their practice when providing mental health care to African Americans in hospital settings. This study shows that social workers can incorporate culturally competent practice with African American patients by identifying their blind spots while actively eliminating any form of stereotypes and attitudes that could affect their communication with the patients, especially those with mental health problems. I discovered that to minimize bias against African American patients, social workers must avoid making assumptions about them based on their race and cultural background (Adebayo et al., 2020). This study is consistent with other literature, which states that providers should focus on getting information about their patients based on their characteristics and presenting problems and avoid affiliating them to any cultural group (Johnson & Carter, 2020).

This study indicates that social workers who understand the African American culture recognize that each patient is unique and could have a different mindset and perspective toward mental health care. Based on this study, I learned that social workers

could deploy knowledge of the African American culture by recognizing how their background, religion, and family impact their behavior and decision-making toward receiving mental health services. Based on the research outcome, social workers who share different cultural backgrounds from the African American patients reported being more conscious of their biases while being open to recognizing their differences in reasoning and belief systems. Based on the literature, social workers perform self-reflection to address issues regarding power imbalances common in clinician-patient relationships (Adebayo et al., 2020). Experts advise improving patient-provider interaction, such as increasing the provider's understanding of personal and cultural biases and views, the provider's response to patient cultural needs, and trust-building (Adebayo et al., 2020).

Theme 6: Recognizing Spirituality

This study shows that social workers recognize spirituality as a technique they often use to incorporate cultural competence into their practice when providing mental health care to African Americans in hospital settings. This study shows that social workers recognize the need to respect the spirituality, religion, cultural background, and feelings of African American patients toward receiving mental health treatment. Based on the literature, which is consistent with the outcome of this study, religion and spirituality play a significant role in the lives of the African American population (Avent et al., 2021). According to Avent et al. (2021), African Americans frequently turn to various unofficial sources of support, including friends, family, and spiritual authorities. African Americans with mental illness may feel better at ease using these support systems (Avent

et al., 2021). Clinicians and mental health professionals must thoroughly comprehend the Black community's intents, attitudes, and views regarding obtaining mental health care (Taylor & Kuo, 2019). This study shows that social workers who sought assistance from patients' spiritual leaders successfully engaged with African American patients with mental health problems, especially those who resisted treatment.

Summary

In section 3, I presented the data analysis techniques used to code the data collected, the presentation of the coding, categorization, and themes based on participant responses. This section also contains the findings of the study based on each research question. Findings from the first research question: How do social workers describe how cultural issues create challenges when providing mental health care services to African Americans in hospital settings? Included (a) Denial of Mental Health Services, (b) Culturally Incompetence, (c) Cultural Diversity in Healthcare, and (d) Inadequate Culturally Driven Hospital Programs. Findings from the second research question: What do mental health care social workers perceive as the benefits of providing culturally competent treatment to African American patients in hospital settings? Included: (a) Effective Communication, (b) Comprehensive Assessment, (c) Patient Resilience, (d) Improved Discharge Outcome, and (e) Patient-Focused Intervention. Findings from the third research question how do social workers in hospital settings incorporate cultural competence into their work when providing mental health care to their African American patients? included (a) Family Engagement, (b) Recognizing Diversity, (c) Active Listening, (d) Use of Empathy, (e) Awareness of Biases, and (f) Recognizing Spirituality. The next section covers the application of professional ethics in social work practice, the recommendations for social work practice, and implications for social change.

Section 4: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Social Change

The purpose of this basic qualitative study is to explore experiences of social workers in terms of implementing a culturally-competent mental health practice with African Americans in hospital settings within Houston, TX. I used individual semistructured recorded interviews and open-ended questions to obtain data from 10 selected participants through Zoom. I used a purposeful sampling strategy aiming for a sample of full-time mental health social workers with at least 2 years of experience working with African Americans in hospital settings within Houston, TX. Data were collected and held anonymously to ensure no identifying values could link information to participants. An interview protocol was used to organize and guide interview. Participants were contacted through LinkedIn. This research could help fill a practice gap and enhance environmental awareness in practice. Findings could be used as a guide to create initiatives to enhance delivering culturally-competent mental health services to African American communities in hospitals. Additionally, by doing this study, researchers could better understand what additional assistance, education, and programs social workers require in terms of handling issues within African American communities.

Findings included insights regarding cultural barriers and difficulties social workers face in terms of providing mental health services to African Americans in hospital settings, along with effective practical solutions to promote better mental healthcare outcomes for African Americans. This study is significant because it may fill a gap in understanding by focusing specifically on how social workers in hospital settings could improve their ability to integrate culture into their work with African American

clients. This study could help hospital social work practitioners and other clinicians become knowledgeable regarding practical and cultural approaches when assessing African American patients and their family needs and determine appropriate intervention plans.

Application to Professional Ethics in Social Work Practice

I followed the NASW Code of Ethics for clients regarding cultural competency and honoring their worth and dignity. To fulfill their ethical duty to their clients, social workers must be culturally-competent, showing an awareness of how culture influences human behavior and society while appreciating every culture's positive aspect (NASW, 2021). This study shows social workers who reported having vast knowledge regarding African American cultures, beliefs, and backgrounds were able to communicate effectively and build strong working relationships with African American patients, which influenced their mental health outcome.

Based on the study, social workers who displayed empathy, respect, and understanding as well as awareness of African American culture could extract in-depth information about their patients regarding their physical, psychological, social, and economic problems during assessment. Patients are more inclined to divulge information about their health if they feel respected and understood by their healthcare professionals (Adebayo et al., 2020).

This study showed when providers make an effort to recognize diversity of patients, it impacts their feelings of inclusion, belonging, and resilience in terms of seeking mental health care. Providers' ability to embrace diversity in the hospital system

makes patients from diverse backgrounds, including African Americans, improve their resilience to seek treatment and participate in improving their overall wellbeing (Schultz & Brindle, 2022). This study may close the practice gap by enhancing social workers' knowledge regarding direct practice by showcasing expertise in terms of providing culturally-competent mental health care to African Americans in hospital settings.

The NASW Code of Ethics mandates social workers treat each client with compassion and respect, considering cultural and racial diversity. I upheld participants' intrinsic value and dignity. This study shows that social workers who believed they were culturally-competent embraced protecting patients' autonomy and right to make their own decisions during treatment and discharge planning. This study indicates that social workers who understand African American culture recognize each patient is unique and could have different mindsets and perspectives toward mental healthcare. Based on this study, I learned that social workers could deploy knowledge of African American culture by recognizing how their background, religions, and families impact their behavior and decision-making regarding receiving mental health services. This study could inform clinical practice and lead to change in terms of mental healthcare of African American patients.

Recommendations for Social Work Practice

The purpose of this basic qualitative study is to explore experiences of social workers in terms of implementing a culturally-competent mental health practice with African Americans in hospital settings within Houston, TX. I addressed cultural issues

they face and different ways they can implement culturally-competent mental health practices with African Americans in hospital settings.

By conducting this study, researchers could better understand the additional support, training, and programs that social worker would need to deal with problems they face when providing services to the African American community. The results may serve as a benchmark for programs to improve the provision of culturally appropriate mental health treatments to the African American community in hospitals. The study's results may impact my practice as an advanced practitioner by shedding light on the various cultural obstacles and challenges social workers encounter when providing mental health services to African Americans in hospital settings and by offering the chance to advocate for improved mental healthcare outcomes for African Americans. The study results could aid social workers in understanding some unvarnished truths about the African American population they serve, the need for culturally competent interventions, and how they could affect their choice to engage in mental health practice. The outcome of this study could be helpful to health policymakers in developing a universal healthcare system that will lessen healthcare disparities, improve culturally competent social worker training, and support positive patient outcomes. The result of this study may spur social workers to educate the public about the cultural barriers that prevent the African American population from seeking mental health care and may give the African American community more leverage to advocate for policy change.

More research is required to understand the patients' perceptions better, as healthcare systems continue to work to offer culturally competent care for various groups. Cultural competence is the provider's self-reported skill, but the care recipient's perception is missing from the conversation (Sciaffing et al., 2020). The recommendation is that researchers adopt and engage in more research methods that will include members of the African American community and offer them the opportunity to illustrate what is important to them during research. The findings that could emerge from these recommended studies could help inform the development of programs and strategies that partner with the researcher and the community they aim to support through their finding. The results of this study emphasize the need for more research on assessing the efficacy of culturally-sensitive practices aimed at enhancing African Americans' access to healthcare.

The fact that this study is restricted to Houston, Texas, USA, is another drawback. I will advise future researchers to broaden the geographic scope of similar research to include more cities in the USA to see if the themes will differ. Understanding cultural issues surrounding social workers' use in providing mental healthcare services to African Americans in hospital settings is crucial in healthcare hospital systems across the United States of America. The qualitative design of this study and its small sample size/population are further drawbacks. This limitation could affect the transferability or generalizability of findings associated with conducting a basic qualitative research study with a small sample size (Creswell, 2018; Peoples, 2021). I recommend that future researchers increase the sample size and apply other research methods, including mixed research methods, to provide a better and deeper understanding of the phenomenon (Ravitch & Carl, 2021). Future researchers could examine the consequences of this study

by examining how well the knowledge gained from it can be applied to other healthcare organizations outside of the hospital system.

Implications for Social Change

The themes found in this study are consistent with the ongoing debate about the mental health care and overall health of African Americans. Healthcare inequalities disproportionately affect the African American community, which has difficulties obtaining and using healthcare services (Racial/Ethnic Differences in Mental Health Service Use Among Adults and Adolescents (2015-2019) | CBHSQ Data, n.d.). Perceived racism, medical mistrust, and breakdowns in patient/provider communication all exacerbate these barriers and disparities (Bogart et al., 2021). The results of this study may provide additional support for the creation of a culturally competent workforce that will enhance a healthcare system devoid of discrimination as healthcare on a global scale develops and puts into practice strategies aiming to improve the health of the African American population and other underrepresented ethnic and racial minorities. The findings of this study also present practice recommendations related to culturally competent care as a strategy to address disparities impacting the health of the African American community.

The outcome of this study could be used as a tool to bring about social change in the field of social work by acting as the basis for initiatives to involve African American communities in change and create more sustainable societies. The result of this study could be of value to health policy authorities in creating a universal healthcare system that will reduce healthcare inequalities, develop culturally competent training for social

workers, and promote successful outcomes for its patients. This study can influence the government to design laws and regulations to guarantee that healthcare organizations and other public sectors develop a multicultural and racially harmonious workforce that will endorse staff that reflects their community. Recruiting staff members who reflect the community and are culturally competent is a strategy that is frequently referenced in workforce management and healthcare (White et al., 2019). This idea refers to culturally based care knowledge, actions, and decisions applied in sensitive and knowledgeable ways to fit the clients' cultural values, beliefs, and lifeways effectively and meaningfully for their health and well-being or to prevent illness, disability, or death (Leininger, 2006a; McFarland, 2018b; McFarland & Webhe-Alamah, 2019.

The results of this study demonstrate the importance of culturally competent practice in improving mental health care through social workers' contributions to providing top-notch mental healthcare services to the African American population in hospital settings. By understanding the cultural issues faced by social workers in providing mental health services to African American patients, the outcome of this study could help social work practitioners and other clinicians become knowledgeable of the cultural approaches that are effective when assessing African American patients, their family needs which could help determine appropriate intervention plans. The themes revealed in this study identified the significance and strategies that clinicians could adopt in providing culturally competent mental health practice to African American patients, which could lead to positive social change by thoughtfully designing new approaches to education and training programs aimed at developing cultural competence among other

social workers and providers. Thus, the knowledge gathered in this study may be implemented in the healthcare sector to increase comfort, engagement, and the ability to serve each patient's requirements, the community, and the society at large.

At the organizational level, this study demonstrated how social workers employed in healthcare hospital systems contribute to social change by enhancing the provision of culturally-competent mental health services to patients from various backgrounds.

Hospital systems may experience exceptional organizational performance and patient care through a workforce driven by their culture. According to this study, social workers conversant with African American culture can better assess African American patients thoroughly, minimize bias, and interact with them effectively, especially when they have mental health issues. This study could contribute to social change by sharing social workers' knowledge on adopting culturally-competent mental health practices to improve quality healthcare service delivery to society and achieve organizational goals. Based on the findings of this research, the review of the challenges faced by social workers in providing culturally-competent mental health practice and understanding the benefits and strategies of adopting culturally-competent practice can contribute to the practice of healthcare delivery in the healthcare industry.

Summary

In completing this study, I explored social workers challenges in providing a culturally competent mental health practice with African Americans in hospital settings.

A vital part of high-quality healthcare delivery that will help the African American community and other multicultural groups is implementing culturally competent practice

in healthcare hospital systems (Macgregor et al., 2019). To be effective, social workers must acknowledge the individuality of each patient and make an effort to comprehend these distinctions by implementing a practice motivated by cultural factors to improve patients' health outcomes and meet organizational objectives (Macgregor et al., 2019). The findings from research question one identified some cultural issues that create challenges for social workers when providing mental health care to the African American population in hospital settings. They Included (a) Denial of Mental Health Services, (b) Culturally Incompetence, (c) Cultural Diversity in Healthcare, and (d) Inadequate Culturally Driven Hospital Programs. The second research question identified the benefits of providing culturally competent treatment to African American patients in hospital settings. They Included (a) Effective Communication, (b) Comprehensive Assessment, (c) Patient Resilience, (d) Improved Discharge Outcome, and (e) Patient-Focused Intervention. Findings from the third research question identified strategies social workers can use to incorporate cultural competence into their work when providing mental health care to their African American patients. The strategies included (a) Family Engagement, (b) Recognizing Diversity, (c) Active Listening, (d) Use of Empathy, (e) Awareness of Biases, and (f) Recognizing Spirituality. The Afrocentric conceptual model, "Afrocentricity," served as the foundation of this study. The Afrocentric model holds that studying and comprehending African American lives requires an awareness of the history, culture, and experiences of individuals of African heritage (Asante, 2003; Hong et al., 2020). The findings of this study could serve as a tool to achieve social change in the profession of social work by serving as a foundation for programs that seek to engage African American communities in change and the development of more sustainable societies.

References

- Adebayo, C. T., Walker, K., Hawkins, M., Olukotun, O., Shaw, L., Sahlstein Parcell, E., Dressel, A., Luft, H., & Mkandawire-Valhmu, L. (2019). Race and blackness: A thematic review of communication challenges confronting the Black community within the U.S. health care system. *Journal of Transcultural Nursing*, . https://doi.org/10.1177/1043659619889111
- AlGhanmi, N., AlJumah, S., Larabi-Marie-Sainte, S., & Alsaber, L. (2022).

 Organizational culture and its impact on the success of virtual software development projects. 2022 Fifth International Conference of Women in Data Science at Prince Sultan University (WiDS PSU). https://doi.org/10.1109/wids-psu54548.2022.00018
- Amuta-Jimenez, A. O., Jacobs, W., & Smith, G. (2019). Health disparities and the heterogeneity of Blacks/African Americans in the United States: Why should we care? *Health Promotion Practice*, 21(4), 492–495.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/1524839919895507
- Armstrong, T. D., Pinson, V. M., Avent-Alston, L., & Buckner, D. N. (2022). Increasing mental health service utilization in Black populations during COVID-19:

 Clarifying clinician responsibility. *Practice Innovations*, 7(3), 188–202.

 https://doi.org/10.1037/pri0000155
- Asante, M. (2003). *Afrocentricity: The theory of social change* (2nd ed.). African American Images.

- Avent Harris, J. R., Wahesh, E., Barrow, M., & Fripp, J. A. (2021). Demographics, stigma, and religious coping and Christian African Americans' help seeking. *Counseling and Values*, 66(1), 73–91. https://doi.org/10.1002/cvj.12145
- Bent-Goodley, T., Fairfax, C. N., & Carlton-LaNey, I. (2017). The significance of African-centered social work for social work practice. *Journal of Human Behavior in the Social Environment*, 27(1–2), 1–6.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/10911359.2016.1273682
- Berrett-Abebe, J., Donelan, K., Berkman, B., Auerbach, D., & Maramaldi, P. (2019).

 Physician and nurse practitioner perceptions of social worker and community health worker roles in primary care practices caring for frail elders: Insights for social work. *Social Work in Health Care*, 59(1), 46–60.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/00981389.2019.1695703
- Betancourt, B. D. A. (n.d.). Madeleine Leininger and the transcultural theory of nursing. https://engagedscholarship.csuohio.edu/tdr/vol2/iss1/1/
- Bolderston, A. (2012). Conducting a research interview. *Journal of Medical Imaging and Radiation Sciences*, 43(1), 66–76. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jmir.2011.12.002

- Bonar, L. (2019). A healthy respect for culture can improve the delivery of care. *Journal of Healthcare Management*, 64(2), 71–73. https://doi.org/10.1097/jhm-d-19-00012
- Bravo, C. D., Dimalanta, F. D., Jusay, K. A., Vitug, M. Y., & Tabuena, A. (2022).

 Inclination state on the Philippine culture and arts using the appraisal theory:

 Factors of progress and deterioration. *Participatory Educational Research*, 9(1),

 388–403. https://doi.org/10.17275/per.22.21.9.1
- U.S. Census Bureau. (n.d.). Race.

https://www.census.gov/topics/population/race.htmlBurner, K. J. (2019). Journaling to elicit self-regulation and academic performance in a preservice teacher technology education course. *Technology, Instruction, Cognition and Learning*, 11(2-3), 219–245.

https://eds.s.ebscohost.com/eds/pdfviewer/pdfviewer?vid=1&sid=7d6038b7-bf1b-48bf-b477-749db20732a4%40redis

- Cameron, S. L. A., Tchernegovski, P., & Maybery, D. (2022). Mental health service users' experiences and perspectives of family involvement in their care: A systematic literature review. *Journal of Mental Health*, 1–17. https://doi.org/10.1080/09638237.2022.2091760
- Carratala, S., & Maxwell, C. (2020). Health disparities by race and ethnicity.

 https://www.americanprogress.org/issues/race/reports/2020/05/07/484742/health-disparities-race-ethnicity/

- Cavalhieri, K. E., & Wilcox, M. M. (2021). The compounded effects of classism and racism on mental health outcomes for African Americans. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, 69(1). https://doi.org/10.1037/cou0000561
- Challenges Faced by Social Workers in Mental Health Social Work Today. (2019,

 January 23). Florida State University.

 https://onlinemsw.fsu.edu/blog/2019/01/23/challenges-faced-social-workers-mental-health-social-work-today
- Connell, C. L., Wang, S. C., Crook, L., & Yadrick, K. (2019). Barriers to Healthcare

 Seeking and Provision Among African American Adults in the Rural Mississippi

 Delta Region: Community and Provider Perspectives. *Journal of Community Health*, 44(4), 636–645. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10900-019-00620-1
- Coombs, A., Joshua, A., Flowers, M., Wisdom, J., Crayton, L. S., Frazier, K., & Hankerson, S. H. (2021). Mental Health Perspectives Among Black Americans Receiving Services from a Church-Affiliated Mental Health Clinic. *Psychiatric Services*, appi.ps.2020007. https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ps.202000766
- Creswell, J. W., & Creswell, J. D. (2018). Research design: Qualitative, quantitative, and Mixed Methods Approaches (5th ed.). SAGE Publications.
- Creswell, J. W., & Guetterman, T. C. (2019). Educational Research: Planning,

 Conducting, and Evaluating Quantitative and Qualitative Research, 6th Edition.

 In *ERIC*. Pearson. https://eric.ed.gov/?id=ED594549

- Daphna-Tekoah, S. (2021). On the front line: Narratives of social workers at hospitals. *Qualitative Psychology*, 8(2), 244–254. https://doi.org/10.1037/qup0000200
- Deniz, Ş., & Kurt, G. (2022). Investigation of Mathematical Modeling Processes of Middle School Students in Model-Eliciting Activities (MEAs): A STEM Approach. *Participatory Educational Research*, 9(2), 150–177. https://doi.org/10.17275/per.22.34.9.2
- Dillard, C. B. (2000). The substance of things hoped for, the evidence of things not seen:

 Examining an endarkened feminist epistemology in educational research and leadership. *International Journal of Qualitative Studies in Education*, 13(6), 661–681. https://doi.org/10.1080/09518390050211565
- Dodgson, J. E. (2019). Reflexivity in Qualitative Research. *Journal of Human Lactation*, 35(2), 220–222. https://doi.org/10.1177/0890334419830990
- DuBois, W. E. B. (1929). Relations of Negroes to whites in the South. In P. Zuckerman (Ed.), The social theory of W. E. B. DuBois 49-51, Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Egberto Ribeiro Turato. (2017). 07 THE SEVEN STEPS OF THE CLINICALQUALITATIVE CONTENT ANALYSIS: A DATA-PROCESSING TECHNIQUE
 FOR RESEARCH INTO CLINICAL CARE SETTINGS.
- Foronda, C. (2019). A Theory of Cultural Humility. *Journal of Transcultural*Nursing, 31(1), 104365961987518. https://doi.org/10.1177/1043659619875184
- Gebremikael, L., Sicchia, S., Demi, S., & Rhoden, J. (2022). Afrocentric approaches to disrupting anti-Black racism in health care and promoting Black health in

- Canada. CMAJ: Canadian Medical Association Journal = Journal de l'Association Medicale Canadienne, 194(42), E1448–E1450. https://doi.org/10.1503/cmaj.220456
- GOV.UK. (2020, January 30). *Interview study: qualitative studies*. GOV.UK. https://www.gov.uk/guidance/interview-study-qualitative-studies
- Gran-Ruaz, S., Feliciano, J., Bartlett, A., & Williams, M. T. (2022). Implicit racial bias across ethnoracial groups in Canada and the United States and Black mental health. *Canadian Psychology/Psychologie Canadienne*.

 https://doi.org/10.1037/cap0000323
- Hall, J. C., Conner, K. O., & Jones, K. (2021). The Strong Black Woman versus Mental Health Utilization: A Qualitative Study. *Health & Social Work*. https://doi.org/10.1093/hsw/hlaa036
- Hall, E. L., & Jones, N. P. (2017). A Deeper Analysis of Culturally Competent Practice:
 Delving Beneath White Privilege. *Journal of Ethnic & Cultural Diversity in* Social Work, 28(3), 282–296. https://doi.org/10.1080/15313204.2017.1344949
- Harris, K. (n.d.). Academic Guides: Center for Research Quality: Center for Research Quality. Academicguides.waldenu.edu.

 https://academicguides.waldenu.edu/research-cente
- Health Equity Campaign 2021. (n.d.). Www.who.int. Retrieved December 2, 2022, from https://www.who.int/campaigns/world-health-day/2021/health-equity-campaign-2021.

- Heenan, D., & Birrell, D. (2019). Hospital-Based Social Work: Challenges at the Interface between Health and Social Care. *The British Journal of Social Work*, 49(7). https://doi.org/10.1093/bjsw/bcy114
- Hennink, M., & Kaiser, B. N. (2021). Sample Sizes for Saturation in Qualitative research:

 a Systematic Review of Empirical Tests. *Social Science & Medicine*, 292,

 114523. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2021.114523
- Hong, P. Y. P., Kim, C., Hong, R., Lewis, D., & Park, J. H. (2020). Examining
 Psychological Self-Sufficiency among African American Low-Income Jobseekers
 in a Health Profession Career Pathways Program. *Social Work in Health*Care, 59(3), 139–160. https://doi.org/10.1080/00981389.2019.1704467
- Johnson, M. H., McNeish, R., & Vargo, A. C. (2020). Exploring Ethnic Differences in Caregiver Perceptions of the Quality of Children's Mental Health Care. *Journal of Child and Family Studies*, 29(9), 2552–2567. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10826-020-01750-0
- Johnson, V. E., & Carter, R. T. (2019). Black Cultural Strengths and Psychosocial Well-Being: An Empirical Analysis with Black American Adults. *Journal of Black Psychology*, 46(1), 55–89. https://doi.org/10.1177/0095798419889752
- Joy, M. T., Kohler, C. G., & Griffith, T. H. (2017). Views and strategies of African American caregivers of persons with schizophrenia on medication treatment and other supports. *Qualitative Social Work*, 18(2), 302–324.

https://doi.org/10.1177/1473325017718927

- Karatas, K. (2020). The Competencies of the Culturally Responsive Teacher: What, Why and How? *I.e.: Inquiry in Education*, 12(2). https://digitalcommons.nl.edu/ie/vol12/iss2/2
- Karen Kay Kirst-Ashman, & Grafton H Hull, Jr. (2018). *Understanding generalist* practice (8th ed.). Cengage Learning.
- Kelly, S., Jeremie-Brink, G., Chambers, A. L., & Smith-Bynum, M. A. (2020). The Black Lives Matter Movement: A Call to Action for Couple and Family Therapists. *Family Process*, 59(4). https://doi.org/10.1111/famp.12614
- Kerrigan, V., McGrath, S. Y., Majoni, S. W., Walker, M., Ahmat, M., Lee, B., Cass, A.,
 Hefler, M., & Ralph, A. P. (2021). "The talking bit of medicine, that's the most important bit": doctors and Aboriginal interpreters collaborate to transform culturally competent hospital care. *International Journal for Equity in Health*, 20(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12939-021-01507-1
- Kersey-Matusiak, G. (2019). Delivering culturally competent nursing care: working with diverse and vulnerable populations. Springer Publishing Company, Llc.
- Kim, K., Lehning, A. J., & Sacco, P. (2020). The Role of County Characteristics in Mental Health Service Use by Older African Americans. *Psychiatric Services*, 71(5), 465–471. https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ps.201900351
- Koketso, M. F. (2019). Experiences of Teen Fathers' Relationship with Significant Others in Vaalbank, Mpumalanga Province, South Africa. *E-BANGI Journal*, 16(4), 1–9.

- https://eds.p.ebscohost.com/eds/pdfviewer/pdfviewer?vid=1&sid=af1676fb-e085-49fc-9b48-a2225b219bdf%40redis
- Lee, E., Kourgiantakis, T., & Hu, R. (2021). Teaching Note—Teaching Socially Just

 Culturally Competent Practice Online: Pedagogical Challenges and Lessons

 Learned During the Pandemic. *Journal of Social Work Education*, 1–8.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/10437797.2021.1935367
- Lee, H., Hodgkin, D., Johnson, M. P., & Porell, F. W. (2021). Medicaid Expansion and Racial and Ethnic Disparities in Access to Health Care: Applying the National Academy of Medicine Definition of Health Care Disparities. *INQUIRY: The Journal of Health Care Organization, Provision, and Financing*, 58, 004695802199129. https://doi.org/10.1177/0046958021991293
- Lee, M., Lu, W., Mann-Barnes, T., Nam, J.-H., Nelson, J., & Ma, G. X. (2021). Mental Health Screening Needs and Preference in Treatment Types and Providers in African American and Asian American Older Adults. *Brain Sciences*, *11*(5), 597. https://doi.org/10.3390/brainsci11050597
- Leininger, M., & McFarland, M. R. (2006). *Transcultural Nursing: Concepts, Theories, Research & Practice, Third Edition*. McGraw-Hill Education / Medical.
- Leininger, M. (2007). Theoretical Questions and Concerns: Response from the Theory of Culture Care Diversity and Universality Perspective. *Nursing Science Quarterly*, 20(1), 9–13. https://doi.org/10.1177/0894318406296784
- Lewis, E. M., Lemmons, B. P., & Woolley, M. E. (2022). The ties that bind: An exploration of son-in-law and father-in-law relationships in Black

- families. *Psychology of Men & Masculinities*, 23(1), 99–108. https://doi.org/10.1037/men0000361
- Lu, W., Todhunter-Reid, A., Mitsdarffer, M. L., Muñoz-Laboy, M., Yoon, A. S., & Xu, L. (2021). Barriers and Facilitators for Mental Health Service Use Among Racial/Ethnic Minority Adolescents: A Systematic Review of Literature. Frontiers in Public Health, 9.
 https://doi.org/10.3389/fpubh.2021.641605
- Maness, S. B., Merrell, L., Thompson, E. L., Griner, S. B., Kline, N., & Wheldon, C. (2020). Social Determinants of Health and Health Disparities: COVID-19 Exposures and Mortality Among African American People in the United States. *Public Health Reports*, 136(1), 18–22.
 https://doi.org/10.1177/0033354920969169
- Maphaka, D., & Mathew Tirivangasi, H. (2022). An Afrocentric Analysis of South

 Africa's Paradiplomacy: A Case of Limpopo Province, 2009-2018. *Journal of African Foreign Affairs*, 9(1), 53–68. https://doi.org/10.31920/2056-5658/2022/v9n1a3
- Maral, M. (2022). Exploring School Administrators' Perceptions on Participative

 Decision-Making Process. *E-International Journal of Educational Research*.

 https://doi.org/10.19160/e-ijer.1038386
- Margolies, L., & Brown, C. G. (2019). Increasing cultural competence with LGBTQ patients. *Nursing*, 49(6), 34–40. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.nurse.0000558088.77604.24

- Mcfarland, M. R. (2014). Culture Care Diversity and Universality: A Worldwide Nursing

 Theory. Jones & Bartlett Learning
- McGregor, B., Belton, A., Henry, T. L., Wrenn, G., & Holden, K. B. (2019). Improving Behavioral Health Equity through Cultural Competence Training of Health Care Providers. *Ethnicity &Amp; Disease*, 29(2), 359–364.

 https://doi.org/10.18865/ed.29.s2.359
- Melendres, M. (2020). Cultural competence in social work practice: Exploring the challenges of newly employed social work professionals. *Journal of Ethnic & Cultural Diversity in Social Work*, 31(2), 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1080/15313204.2020.1855492
- Merriam, S. B., & Grenier, R. S. (2019). *Qualitative research in practice: Examples for discussion and analysis* (2nd ed.). Jossey-Bass.
- Moreno, F. A., & Chhatwal, J. (2020). Diversity and Inclusion in Psychiatry: The Pursuit of Health Equity. *FOCUS*, *18*(1), 2–7.

 https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.focus.20190029
- Moss, T., & Crewe, S. E. (2020). The Black Perspective: A Framework for Culturally Competent Health Related Evaluations for African Americans. *New Directions for Evaluation*, 2020(166), 77–87. https://doi.org/10.1002/ev.20413
- Muhammad, Y., Akhter, M., & Lala, G. e. (2019). Exploring Online Peer Harassment Experiences of Female University Students: A Qualitative Study. *Journal of Educational Research* (1027-9776), 22(2), 109–124.

- https://eds.p.ebscohost.com/eds/pdfviewer/pdfviewer?vid=1&sid=2299c4fb-b309-49bd-bb23-e2756defd0cd%40redis
- National Association of Social Workers. (2021). *Code of Ethics*. National Association of Social Workers. https://www.socialworkers.org/About/Ethics/Code-of-Ethics-English
- Nelson, J. (2021). Advancing Culturally Competent Healthcare Delivery through

 Interprofessional Collaborative Practice. *Journal of Best Practices in Health*Professions Diversity: Education, Research & Policy, 14(1), 36–43.

 https://eds.s.ebscohost.com/eds/pdfviewer/pdfviewer?vid=1&sid=2ee12031-51f6-492a-a856-75678b1223c9%40redis
- Nguyen, N. N. (2020). Factors influencing social work students' motivation to work in drug treatment settings: the role of knowledge and attitudes. *Social Work in Health Care*, 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1080/00981389.2020.1790078
- Nouman, H. (2019). Between Majority and Minority: A Model for Understanding and Promoting Culturally Competent Policy Practice in Multicultural Societies. *The British Journal of Social Work*, 50(2), 506–524. https://doi.org/10.1093/bjsw/bcz144
- Novacek, D. M., Hampton-Anderson, J. N., Ebor, M. T., Loeb, T. B., & Wyatt, G. E. (2020). Mental health ramifications of the COVID-19 pandemic for Black Americans: Clinical and research recommendations. *Psychological Trauma: Theory, Research, Practice, and Policy*, *12*(5), 449–451. https://doi.org/10.1037/tra0000796

- Offices of Minority Health at HHS The Office of Minority Health. (n.d.).

 Minorityhealth.hhs.gov. Retrieved April 15, 2022, from

 https://minorityhealth.hhs.gov/omh/browse.aspx?lvl=2&lvlid=7
- Osborn, P. R., & Karandikar, S. (2022). Practice-based knowledge perspectives of cultural competence in social work. *Journal of Ethnic & Cultural Diversity in Social Work*, 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1080/15313204.2022.2046228
- Patton, M. Q. (2014). Qualitative Research & Evaluation Methods: Integrating Theory and Practice (4th ed.). Sage Publications, Inc.
- Pellebon, D. A. (2007). An Analysis of Afrocentricity as Theory for Social Work

 Practice. *Advances in Social Work*, 8(1), 169–183.

 https://doaj.org/article/0880f4bce3e446f4a95990487a073d09
- Peoples, K. (2021). How to write a phenomenological dissertation. SAGE Publications
- Planey, A. M., Smith, S. M., Moore, S., & Walker, T. D. (2019). Barriers and facilitators to mental health help-seeking among African American youth and their families:

 A systematic review study. *Children and Youth Services Review*, 101, 190–200. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2019.04.001
- Powell, W., Richmond, J., Mohottige, D., Yen, I., Joslyn, A., & Corbie-Smith, G. (2019).
 Medical Mistrust, Racism, and Delays in Preventive Health Screening Among
 African American Men. *Behavioral Medicine*, 45(2), 102–117.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/08964289.2019.1585327

- Price, H. E., & Smith, C. (2021). Procedures for Reliable Cultural Model Analysis Using Semi-Structured Interviews. *Field Methods*, 1525822X2098272. https://doi.org/10.1177/1525822x20982725
- Racial/Ethnic Differences in Mental Health Service Use Among Adults and Adolescents

 (2015-2019) | CBHSQ Data. (n.d.). Www.samhsa.gov.

 https://www.samhsa.gov/data/report/racialethnic-differences-mental-health-service-use
- Rathod, S., Graves, E., Kingdon, D., Thorne, K., Naeem, F., & Phiri, P. (2020). Cultural Adaptations in Clinical Interactions (CoAction): a multi-site comparative study to assess what cultural adaptations are made by clinicians in different settings. *International Review of Psychiatry*, 1–13.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/09540261.2020.1750818
- Ravitch, S. M., & Carl, N. M. (2021). Qualitative research: bridging the conceptual, theoretical, and methodological. Sage.
- Reed, D. D., & Adams, R. (2020). A Social-Ecological Perspective of Spiritual

 Resilience and Suicidality among African American Men. *Social Work in Public Health*, 35(8), 710–721. https://doi.org/10.1080/19371918.2020.1824845
- Reed, S., Evans, E. J., & Hooyman, N. (2020). Social Work: Leading the Move Upstream to Improve the Nation's Health. *Health & Social Work*.

 https://doi.org/10.1093/hsw/hlaa006

- Ricks, D., & Brannon, G. E. (2023). "It's real. It's a thing:" Mental health counselors' listening exhaustion during COVID-19. *Qualitative Research in Medicine & Healthcare*, 7(2), 11261. https://doi.org/10.4081/qrmh.2023.11261
- Ross, H., Dritz, R., Morano, B., Lubetsky, S., Saenger, P., Seligman, A., & Ornstein, K.
 A. (2021). The unique role of the social worker within the Hospital at Home care delivery team. *Social Work in Health Care*, 1–15.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/00981389.2021.1894308
- Rowe, J., Rizzo, V. M., Guthrie, D., Vail, M. R., Kang, S.-Y., & Golden, R. (2019). The Electronic Health Record: Documenting the Unique Contributions of Social Workers. *Health & Social Work*, 44(2), 123–128. https://doi.org/10.1093/hsw/hlz006
- Rubin, H. J., & Rubin, I. S. (2012). *Qualitative interviewing: the art of hearing data* (3rd ed.). Sage.
- Saldaña, J. (2021). The Coding Manual for Qualitative Researchers. Sage.
- Schiaffino, M. K., Ruiz, M., Yakuta, M., Contreras, A., Akhavan, S., Prince, B., & Weech-Maldonado, R. (2020). Culturally and Linguistically Appropriate Hospital Services Reduce Medicare Length of Stay. *Ethnicity & Disease*, *30*(4), 603–610. https://doi.org/10.18865/ed.30.4.603
- Schiele, J.H. (1996). Afrocentricity: An Emerging Paradigm in Social Work Practice. (1996). *Social Work*, 41(3), 284-294. https://doi.org/10.1093/sw/41.3.284
- Schulz, E., Ghosh, D., Clark, E. M., Williams, B. R., Williams, R., Ma, L., Park, C. L., & Knott, C. L. (2022). Disability and Health in African Americans: Population

- Research and Implications for Occupational Therapy Community-Based Practice. *The Open Journal of Occupational Therapy*, *10*(1), 1–19. https://doi.org/10.15453/2168-6408.1806
- Schultz, K. R., & Brindle, S. S. (2022). Health care providers' perspectives on resilience and positive adjustment within the spinal cord injury population. *Rehabilitation Psychology*. https://doi.org/10.1037/rep0000413
- Schultz, R., Brostrøm Kousgaard, M., & Davidsen, A. S. (2020). "We have two different agendas": the views of general practitioners, social workers, and hospital staff on interprofessional coordination for patients with chronic widespread pain. *Journal of Interprofessional Care*, 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1080/13561820.2020.1749576
- Sharifi, N., Adib-Hajbaghery, M., & Najafi, M. (2019). Cultural competence in nursing:

 A concept analysis. *International Journal of Nursing Studies*, 99, 103386.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2019.103386
- Stare, B. G., & Fernando, D. M. (2019). Black American Men's Treatment Experiences in Mental Health Court: A Phenomenological Analysis. *Journal of Addictions & Offender Counseling*, 40(1), 17–35. https://doi.org/10.1002/jaoc.12054
- Steils, N., Moriarty, J., & Manthorpe, J. (2020). The Clarity and Contribution of the Hospital Social Work Role: Observations on its Professional Identity. *Practice*, 1–18. https://doi.org/10.1080/09503153.2020.1801620
- Taylor, R. E., & Kuo, B. C. H. (2019). Black American psychological help-seeking intention: An integrated literature review with recommendations for clinical

practice. *Journal of Psychotherapy Integration*, 29(4), 325–337. https://doi.org/10.1037/int0000131

The IRB'S office of research and compliance.

https://content.waldenu.edu/91d571c5979d58e5dd548c3b3e2af8f3.pdf

Tillman, L. C. (2002). Culturally Sensitive Research Approaches: An African American Perspective. *Educational Researcher*, *31*(9), 3–12. https://doi.org/10.3102/0013189x031009003

- Trachsel, M., & grosse Holtforth, M. (2019). How to Strengthen Patients' Meaning Response by an Ethical Informed Consent in Psychotherapy. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 10. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2019.01747
- Trinh, N.-H., Tuchman, S., Chen, J., Chang, T., & Yeung, A. (2020). Cultural Humility and the Practice of Consultation-Liaison Psychiatry. *Psychosomatics*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psym.2020.03.002
- Turner, D. D. (2002). An Oral History Interview. *Journal of Black Studies*, *32*(6), 711–734. https://doi.org/10.1177/00234702032006005
- Wallace, C. L., Trees, A., Ohs, J., & Hinyard, L. (2021). Narrative Medicine for Healthcare Providers: Improving Practices of Advance Care Planning. *OMEGA - Journal of Death and Dying*, 003022282110155. https://doi.org/10.1177/00302228211015596
- Watson-Singleton, N. N., Black, A. R., & Spivey, B. N. (2019). Recommendations for a Culturally Responsive Mindfulness-Based Intervention for African

- Americans. *Complementary Therapies in Clinical Practice*, *34*, 132–138. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ctcp.2018.11.013
- Whaley, A. L. (2019). Help-seeking from indigenous healers among persons of African ancestry in the United States: Ethnic and racial disparities in mental and physical health. *Complementary Therapies in Medicine*, 45, 222–227.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ctim.2019.07.005
- White, J., Plompen, T., Tao, L., Micallef, E., & Haines, T. (2019). What is needed in culturally competent healthcare systems? A qualitative exploration of culturally diverse patients and professional interpreters in an Australian healthcare setting. *BMC Public Health*, *19*(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-019-7378-9
- Williams, D., & Cooper, L. (2019). Reducing Racial Inequities in Health: Using What

 We Already Know to Take Action. *International Journal of Environmental*Research and Public Health, 16(4), 606. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph16040606
- Williamson, L. D., Smith, M. A., & Bigman, C. A. (2019). Does Discrimination Breed
 Mistrust? Examining the Role of Mediated and Non-Mediated Discrimination
 Experiences in Medical Mistrust. *Journal of Health Communication*, 24(10), 791–799. https://doi.org/10.1080/10810730.2019.1669742
- Saxe Zerden, L. de, Lombardi, B. M., & Jones, A. (2019). Social workers in integrated health care: Improving care throughout the life course. *Social Work in Health Care*, 58(1), 142–149. https://doi.org/10.1080/00981389.2019.1553934

Dear Social Worker,

My name is Eric Ejem, and I am a graduate student at Walden University. As part of my research study, I am seeking the interest of social workers volunteers to take part in a research study about social workers challenges in implementing a culturally competent mental health practice with African Americans in hospital settings. This study seeks at least 10 volunteers who are full-time mental health social workers. They should have at least two years of experience working with African Americans with mental health problems in hospital settings within Houston Texas. The interview duration will be in the range of 45-60 minutes.

Here are the interview questions:

The interview questions are semi-structured with open-ended questions, and designed to encourage in-depth responses from participants.

- How would you describe the challenges you face in providing culturally competent mental health care to African Americans in hospital setting?
- Provide examples of situations where you experienced challenges providing mental health services to African American patients? If so, what did you do to overcome such challenges? How were they resolved?
- How do you describe your knowledge of the African American culture?
- How has your knowledge of this cultural group influenced your practice with them in hospital settings?

- How would you describe your most recent experience on how culture influenced the outcome your intervention with an African American client in hospital settings?
- How do you incorporate a culturally competent practice into your work when providing mental health care to the African American patients?
- How do you describe your motivation as a social worker in providing mental health care to African American patients?
- In your opinion what do you think can be done to improve mental health care for African American population during hospitalization?